SLU



Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Department of Plant Breeding

Bread-making quality in a changing climate: In search of climate stable genotypes and robust screening methods for wheat

Sbatie Lama



Introductory Paper at the Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science, 2020:3 Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Alnarp, Sweden

November 2020

Bread-making quality in a changing climate: In search of climate stable genotypes and robust screening methods for wheat

Sbatie Lama

Place of publication:	Alnarp, Sweden			
Year of publication:	2020			
Title of series:	Introductory paper at the faculty of Landscape Architecture,			
	Horticulture and Crop Production Sciences			
Number of part of series	2020:3			
Cover pictures	From left to right (top): Various seasons			
	From left to right (bottom): Heading stage of spring wheat,			
	matured wheat plants, wheat grains and wheat bread.			
Cover pictures by	Sbatie Lama, except 2 nd and 5 th pictures (top); from the left			
	are by Momotaz Begum, Bangladesh and Martin Ewertson,			
	Sweden, respectively.			
Online publication	https://pub.epsilon.slu.se			
Keywords	Bread-making quality, climate variation, G x E, grain protein			
	concentration, wheat gluten, protein polymerization, stability			

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science Department of Plant Breeding Plant Product Quality Group

Abstract

Wheat is one of the major crops in the world serving as an important source of nutrients for human consumption. Fluctuating climate with increasing heat, drought and precipitation, as well as rising concentration of CO₂ has been found to significantly affect yield and quality of wheat worldwide. This introductory paper presents latest overview on the effect of fluctuating climate on wheat yield and gluten protein quality with emphasis on bread-making quality in Sweden and worldwide. Wheat gluten protein quality, as the main determinant of bread making quality, has been discussed in relation to the impact from the climate change. The concentration of gluten proteins and the gluten protein types are greatly affected by the varying climate and by the rate and timing of nitrogen fertilizer. Breeding for wheat quality stability is one of the main strategies to tackle climate induced variation in wheat guality and to ensure food security in the world. Therefore, the urgent need is to develop wheat varieties that are adapted to climate fluctuations and could deliver consistent yields and sufficient qualities of the wheat flour for bread and other products over different locations and years. In regard to this, still several challenges exist, and these include a need of efficient and accurate methods to evaluate wheat quality stability, which has been briefly discussed in this paper. Use of latest modern analytical and breeding tools such as, proteomics and a high throughput plant phenotyping (HTPP), as potential ways to improve the genotype selection efficiency in breeding process have been also discussed. In addition, crop performance prediction models based on simulation and gene mapping may improve the selection efficiency and speed up the breeding process to develop new climate resilient wheat varieties. Currently used methods for assessing wheat flour quality and its suitability for bread-making by wheat breeders and the millers are classical rheological tests evaluated by farinograph, alveograph, extensograph and empirical tests such as, sedimentation volume measurement and bread baking. A large number of these quality tests together with great amount of wheat grains (2-5 kg) are required, are the challenging factors requiring new robust and efficient methods for wheat flour and bread quality evaluation. Therefore, a need to develop small scale reliable tests for assessing flour quality for bread-making is of high relevance for wheat breeding and baking industry. Combination of different small scale wheat quality screening tests, modern breeding tools and crop performance prediction models is needed in order to improve selection efficiency in development of climate stable wheat varieties.

Contents

Abstract	3
List of tables	5
List of figures	6
Abbreviations	7
1. Introduction	8
2. Effect of climate change on wheat production: a Swedish and World perspectives	11
3. Wheat yield and quality stability: challenges and evaluation	13
4. Gluten and its relation to the bread-making quality	14
 5. Effect of genotype and environment on gluten quality in wheat	19 19 21 22
 6. Plant breeding and latest methods to evaluate quality stability in wheat 6.1. Proteomics 6.2. High throughput plant phenotyping (HTPP) 	23 23 24
 7. Crop adaptation and crop quality prediction models	25 25 26 27
 Methods for assessing bread making quality in plant breeding and baking industries	28 28 30 32
9. Conclusions	33
10. References	34

List of tables

Table 1: Abbreviations used in this introductory paper	7
Table 2: Summary of the types and characteristics of wheat gluten proteins from Shewry 2019 1	18

List of figures

Figure 1: World's top 10 wheat producers, exporters and importers in 2018 (million tonnes). Data source: FAO 2020.

Figure 4 : General structures of wheat gluten proteins. The structures are showing the main domains, number of amino acid residues, conserved cysteine residues (SH) and intramolecular disulfide bonds (lines connecting S S). The sections in α -, β -, ω -gliadin, B-type LMW subunits, x- and y- type HMW subunit are reproduced from Anderson et al. 2012 and Schmid et al. 2017. The disulfide bonds and conserved cysteine residues (SH) are reproduced from Shewry et al. 2003; Anderson et al. 2012; Koehler and Wieser 2013. The number and position of the amino acid residues are reproduced from Shewry et al. 2003. Reproduction of the structures is done with kind permission from *Cereal Science*, Elsevier and Springer Nature.

Figure 6: Summary of the effect of genotype, agronomic and environmental parameters on wheat grain protein concentration. Circles indicate positive (green color) and negative (red color) relation between the parameters and the grain protein concentration; CDDT stands for cultivar-determined development time.
Figure 7: A typical Reomixer curve of wheat dough; mixing curve parameters A1-A5 and B1-B5 determined at different development time T (minutes)
Figure 8: General principles and reagents used in three physico-chemical tests of wheat flour
Figure 9: Characteristics to assess the quality of the wheat bread loaf

Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning
CDDT	Cultivar-determined development time
Da	Dalton
GPC	Grain protein concentration
GxE	Genotype and environment interaction
HMW-GS	High-molecular-weight glutenin subunits
HTPP	High throughput plant phenotyping
LMW-GS	Low-molecular-weight glutenin subunits
mln.	Million
MW	Molecular weight
NDSI	Normalized to difference spectral index
PCA	Principle component analysis
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SIG	Swelling index for glutenin
GCM	General circulation models
GS	Genomic selection
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SRC	Solvent retention capacity
t.	Tonnes
UAV	Unmanned aerial vehicle
%UPP	Percentage of un-extractable polymeric protein in total polymeric protein

Table 1: Abbreviations used in this introductory paper

1. Introduction

Wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) is one of the major crops grown worldwide. In 2018, wheat was the third most produced cereal in the world (734.05 million tonnes (mln.t.)) after maize (1147.7 mln.t.) and rice (782 mln.t.), which was grown in the largest area of land (214.3 mln. ha) comparing with rice (167.1 mln. ha) and maize (193.7 mln. ha) worldwide (FAO 2020). World's top 10 wheat producers, exporters and importers in 2018 are shown in Figure 1 (FAO 2020). The annual harvest of wheat contributes to approximately 21% of the world's food (Enghiad et al. 2017). Wheat is rich in carbohydrates and is a major source of plant-based protein in the human diet, which provides more than 20% of the total human protein consumption (Würschum et al. 2016).



Figure 1: World's top 10 wheat producers, exporters and importers in 2018 (million tonnes). Data source: FAO 2020.

Wheat is a versatile crop and flour from wheat is extensively used to produce a wide range of end-use products as for example, bread, pasta, cookies, pastries, noodles etc. With the increasing population in the world, growing urbanization and changing life style, the demand for wheat-based food products is increasing (Pena 2007). Production of sufficient wheat grain amounts with desired quality and feeding the growing population, as well as keeping the price of wheat-based food products affordable for everyone are important goals of future food security (Engliad et al. 2017).

Global temperature is increasing, and one of the latest examples is the year 2018, being one of the warmest years in the world since 1880 (NASA 2019). At present, the average global surface temperature is about 1 °C higher than the average temperature observed in 1880 (NASA 2020a). Climate variation is assumed to reduce global food production and exerts a major threat to future food security (Lenaert

et al. 2019). Drought and extreme heat is projected to reduce global cereal production by around 10% (Amos et al. 2014; Corey et al. 2016), where wheat production is estimated to decrease by 6% for each degree Celsius rise (Akter and Islam 2017). According to the International Food Policy Research Institute with the present rate of rising global temperature (0.3% every decade) wheat yields may decrease by 50% in South Asia, Southern Europe and in large parts of the Mediterranean region by 2050 (EEA 2018). In Northern Europe, including Sweden, crop growing conditions are projected to improve; however, there might be extreme climatic events such as, heat and drought, which might outweigh the good growing conditions for wheat. Overall, severe future climate fluctuations are expected to reduce wheat yields throughout Europe (EEA 2018) and in the world, and increase global wheat prices, which negatively will affect food security (Enghiad et al. 2017).

Bread-making quality of wheat is influenced by the climatic variations and weather extremes (Johansson et al. 2020). The bread-making quality of the wheat flour is impacted by the total grain protein concentration (GPC) and to a large extend is determined by the composition of the gluten proteins (Xue et al. 2019; Wiser 2007; Chaudhary et al. 2016). Commonly, high amounts of so called polymeric gluten proteins, are known to be responsible for high both the gluten strength in dough and the bread loaf volume (Randall and Moss 1990; Johansson et al. 1999; Pena 2007).

Higher temperatures and drought reduce the duration of grain maturation period (Altenbach 2012), which leads to higher GPC and protein polymerization, and lowers accumulation of starch (Altenbach 2012; Malik et al. 2012). Although, benefits of higher temperature on bread-making quality of wheat can be attained only up to 30 °C (Randall and Moss 1990). Temperatures higher than 30 °C are known to impact the bread-making quality negatively (Randall and Moss 1990; Stone and Nicolas 1994; Ciaffi et al. 1996), which might be due to the production of heat-stress proteins in gluten (Blumenthal et al. 1990; Blumenthal et al. 1993). It was assumed that heat-stress proteins change the accumulation and folding of gluten protein in the grain, thus affecting the dough formation capacity of the wheat flour (Blumenthal et al. 1998).

High precipitation increases moisture content in the grain which increases α -amylase activity. In contrast, in lower precipitation α -amylase activity was found to be lower and thus higher bread-making quality (Johansson 2002). In general, higher nitrogen rate is known to increase the GPC (Johansson et al. 2002; Xue et al. 2016; Savill et al. 2018), however, at higher temperature nitrogen application seemed to have little or no effect on GPC (Johansson et al. 2005; Dupont et al. 2006; Koga et al. 2015). Milling industries require stable quality of wheat grains in order to produce even quality flour and bread every year (Battenfield et al. 2016). Decreased wheat yields and quality of grains result into increased import of bread quality wheat from other countries. Severe climate fluctuations cause variation in wheat grain and flour quality yearly and increase economic uncertainties and losses for milling and baking industries. In order to maintain food security and stable economy of the industries that produce wheat grains and processed products from wheat there is an urgent need to develop strategies for climate stable wheat.

Breeding is one of the main tools to tackle climate change and ensure food security in unfavorable climatic conditions (FAO 2009). Wheat breeding is a relatively slow process that requires 7-12 years to

release a new wheat variety (Dreccer et al. 2012). Thus, in order to develop climate stable wheat varieties the breeding process needs to take a start as soon as possible.

Proteomics might be an important tool in the new era of wheat breeding, which provides a better understanding of stress coping mechanisms in plants (Das et al. 2015; Eldakak et al. 2013). Identifying types and amounts of stress responsive proteins in the grain (Sancho et al. 2008; Hashiguchi et al. 2010) can be a very useful data helping with integration of the genomics information, which can potentially help to select the breeding lines more effectively (Das et al. 2015). In addition, the breeding line selection can be improved with high throughput plant phenotyping (HTPP), which makes selection of breeding lines more accurate and efficient on a basis of phenotype, thus leading to more improved varieties. However, several bottlenecks in the effective selection of the breeding lines still exist (Dreccer et al. 2012; Araus et al. 2018). In addition, different crop performance prediction models (for yield and quality) such as, simulation and gene-based models are important tools to increase the number of possible genotypes considered for selection and to speed up the breeding cycle (Battenfield et al. 2016). Prediction models can be also used to increase the genetic adaptation (Ramirez-Villegas et al. 2015).

Actual assessment of end-use quality characteristics of wheat flour is highly desirable for wheat breeders at early segregating generations (F2–F4), particularly in pedigree methodology (Li et al. 2015). However, important rheological dough tests that involve mixing of wheat flour to dough (*e.g.* farinograph, mixograph etc.) and bread baking tests are time consuming and require large quantity of flour, are mainly done in the end of the wheat breeding process. Often promising wheat varieties in terms of high yield and good agronomic performance, are not released because of their poor end-use quality (Battenfield et al. 2016). Small scale physico-chemical methods such as, sedimentation volume, swelling index for glutenin (SIG) and solvent retention capacity (SRC) are promising methods for gluten quality screening in addition to the classical rheological tests performed by farinograph and mixograph. However, more optimization is needed towards development of new physico-chemical methods in regard to low-cost, speed and reliability (Guzman et al. 2015).

This paper points out few main challenges in defining and evaluating bread-making quality stability in wheat in the current climate context. The effects of climatic variations on the wheat quality with emphasis on protein quality characteristics are discussed. This paper also brings new aspects regarding the use of advanced techniques such as, proteomics, HTPP and quality prediction climate models that might be helpful in developing of climate stable wheat. Different rheological methods (mixograph, farinograph and extensograph) and physico-chemical methods (SDS sedimentation, SRC and SIG) for bread-making quality evaluation are also discussed in this paper.

2. Effect of climate change on wheat production: a Swedish and World perspectives

The global climate is fluctuating and this fluctuation includes *e.g.* increasing temperatures, intense heat waves, long drought periods, changes in rainfall patterns, rising concentration of CO₂ etc., all factors significantly affecting crop growth and production (NASA 2020b; Hashiguchi et al. 2010). The optimum temperature at anthesis and grain filling stages for wheat was reported to be around 21 °C (Porter and Gawith 1999; Mäkinen et al. 2018). In Nordic countries, is has been stated that the temperatures between 15 °C to 20 °C facilitate maximum accumulation of starch (Dupont and Altenbach 2003; Johansson et al. 2005, and thus provide higher yield comparing with the wheat grown above 21.5 °C temperature (Uhlen et al. 2015).

On a global level, the latest studies showed that climate change is reducing global wheat yields by 0.9% (Ray et al. 2019). In Australia, due to the lack of water supply wheat yield has been reduced by 27% over the period from 1990 to 2015 (Hochman et al. 2017). In Europe (excluding Scandinavian countries), during the period of 1976–2005 the wheat yield decreased between 0.04 and 0.09 tonnes/ha/year due to the changes in the temperature and solar radiation, respectively, with the strongest decrease in yield in Greece and Romania, 0.09 and 0.07 tonnes/ha/ year, respectively (Supit et al. 2010a and 2010b).

Climate variation and high wheat growing temperature might also increase wheat production, especially in the Nordic countries (Qian et al. 2016; Hochman et al. 2017; Asseng et al. 2019). For example, globally, wheat yield is projected to increase by 7% due to warmer temperatures in combination with higher CO_2 and lower rainfall (Asseng et al. 2018). While in Canadian prairies, due to warmer temperature wheat production is projected to increase by 26-37% during the period of 2041 – 2070 (Qian et al. 2016). Furthermore, wheat production is expected to be higher at higher concentration of CO_2 as was observed in Australia and Canadian prairies e.g. CO_2 increased yield by 4% and up to 22%, respectively (Qian et al. 2016; Hochman et al. 2017).

In Sweden, wheat is one of the main crops produced for food and feed, where around 15% of arable land is used (Lantmännen 2020) with main production in Southern Sweden (Figure 2a) (Jordbruksverket 2020). There are two types of wheat grown in Sweden, winter and spring. Production of winter wheat is much larger than the production of spring wheat (Figure 2b) (Jordbruksverket 2020). Since 2010, the average production and area used for wheat production in Sweden is 2.5 mln.t. and 412 thousands ha (FAO 2020). Consumption of wheat based products such as, bread and other processed products, is very popular in Sweden. Since 1960, the total per capita consumption of bread and pastries have increased by 73% and 41.8% in Sweden (Jordbrukverket 2018). Thus, bread and wheat based products are very important food for Swedish society, and the steady production of these products under varying climate is essential for food security.



Figure 2: Wheat production in Sweden in 2019. (a) Wheat harvested areas; (b) Production of winter wheat and spring wheat in 2019 (thousand tonnes). Data source: Jordbruksverket 2020.

In Sweden, temperature increase might be higher than in the rest of the world (Klimat- och Sårbarhetsutredningen 2007). At present, an average temperature in Sweden is 1.7 °C higher, whereas, the average global temperature is around 1 °C higher, since the preindustrial period (1860-1899) (SMHI 2020). As consequence, winters are becoming shorter, rain and melting periods are becoming more common which affects the snow cover and heating (SMHI 2020).

On average, Swedish wheat production is increasing since 1966 with substantial fluctuation. However, recent fluctuations (since 2013) are more dramatic comparing with the World's wheat production. For example, summer in 2018 was one of the hottest summers since 1961 in Sweden (SMHI 2018). Average temperature in 2018 was 5 °C higher than in 2017 (http://www.ffe.slu.se/lm/LMHome.cfm?LMSUB=1).



Figure 3: Wheat production in the world and in Sweden. Data source: FAO 2020.

Latest years weather fluctuations effected quality to a large extent (Lantmännen 2019). In 2018, Sweden had 50.9% lower wheat production comparing with the production in 2017 (Figure 3) (FAO 2020). Both in 2017 and 2018, Sweden had higher import and lower export comparing with the import and exports during several other years (Jordbruksverket 2019).

3. Wheat yield and quality stability: challenges and evaluation

In the scenario of climate change there is a need to develop wheat varieties with good yield and quality in a wide range of climates in order to deal with food insecurity (Eldakak et al. 2013), economic instability for the milling and baking industries (Peterson et al. 1992) and to provide breeding material for future breeding programs (Mut et al. 2010).

"Stable wheat" are wheat varieties that perform well both agronomically and in regard to end-use quality across a wide range of environments, and also provide consistent yields over locations and years (Peterson et al. 1992; Lemelin et al. 2005; Johansson et al. 2020). For selecting climate stable wheat genotypes, genotype (G), environment (E), and G x E interactions are of high importance (Johansson et al. 2020). The G x E interaction has been found higher in greater climatic variability and the wheat varieties were found to perform differently in different environments (Dreccer et al. 2012). Thus, it is difficult to identify one single genotype that can provide stable yield and quality under all climatic variations (Kahiluoto et al. 2019). Moreover, yield and many quality parameters are normally negatively correlated *e.g.* if the yield is increasing the grain protein concentration tends to decrease (Daniel & Triboi 2000; Johansson et al. 2005; Bogard et al. 2011; Koga et al. 2015). Thus, it is rather challenging to obtain superior and stable yield and quality characteristics of the wheat varieties over different years.

Wheat quality is defined differently by different stakeholders such as, farmers, millers, bakers and consumers (Guzman et al. 2016). For example, a test weight is important for millers, while gluten quality is important for bakers (Guzman et al. 2016). For baking, selection of genotypes with stable quality is complex, since two important protein parameters determining bread making quality such as, gliadins (determining extensibility) and glutenins (strength), are negatively correlated under varying climate (Randall and Moss 1990; Johansson et al. 2013; Uhlen et al. 2015). Researchers observed that genotypes that are more stable for some quality parameters *e.g.* thousands kernel weight, farinograph absorption and Zeleny sedimentation volume, are less stable for GPC and dough stability in the varying climate (Koppel and Ingver 2010; Mut et al. 2010). Thus, obtaining stability in all the quality parameters is a difficult task.

Till now there is no defined method on how to measure wheat quality stability. In few studies few statistical approaches were suggested to select stable genotypes (Lemelin et al. 2005; Mut et al. 2010). One of the most used approaches is the selection of stable genotypes that show smallest environmental variance in the yield and quality parameters (Lin et al. 1986; Lin and Binns. 1988; Robert et al. 2002; Lamelin et al. 2005; Mut et al. 2010; Changizi et al. 2014). Another approach is selection of genotype based on a smaller co-efficient of variability (Koppel and Ingver 2010; Rozbicki et al. 2015). Principle component analysis (PCA) has been used to assess crop yield and quality performance stability (Purchase et al. 2000; Mut et al. 2010; Vazquez et al. 2018). However, PCA clusters indicated multivariate data and transformed these data into univariate data. Clustering all quality data into univariate data might provide misleading results. Therefore, a use of multiple statistical approaches would be helpful to select stable genotypes; though with an increase in the complexity of the selection procedure.

4. Gluten and its relation to the bread-making quality

Wheat grain storage proteins are divided into two groups namely, gluten protein and non-gluten protein. Gluten proteins constitute of 80-85%, while non-gluten proteins constitute of 10-15% of total wheat protein (Veraverbeke & Delcour 2002; Thewissen et al. 2011). Majority of non-gluten proteins are monomeric, smaller in size (25,000-70,000 Da) and are soluble either in water or different concentrations of salt solutions at higher temperature, are called albumins and globulins. Non-gluten proteins might also play a role in bread-making quality however, their exact contribution is not very well understood (Veraverbeke and Delcour 2002; Kuktaite 2004). Previous studies had shown, that albumins and globulins are present in gluten phase of dough samples and their compositions varied in the fractionated dough phases such as, liquid and gel (Kuktaite et al. 2003; Kuktaite et al. 2004). Thus, these proteins might have some effect on bread-making quality.

Gluten, being the main endosperm storage protein of wheat seeds, is very important for determining the end-use quality characteristics of flour (Goesaert et al. 2005). Wheat flour mixed with water forms unique viscoelastic properties of gluten dough and make it suitable to produce different food products (Li et al.

2015). Gluten proteins are divided into monomeric gliadins and polymeric glutenins. According to Osborne solubility classification, gliadins are soluble in aqueous alcohols (60–70% ethanol), whereas glutenins are soluble in aqueous alcohols only after reduction of disulfide bonds (Schmid et al. 2016). The hydrated gliadins have less elasticity and cohesiveness than glutenins thus, contribute mainly to viscosity and extensibility of dough (Wieser 2007). Glutenins are large polymers made from protein subunits connected by disulfide bridges. Hydrated glutenins are cohesive and elastic, and ~20–40 mg per gram of wheat flour is strongly correlated with dough strength and bread loaf volume (Wieser 2007). Extensibility ensures the slippage of proteins to form segments between entangled networks of polymeric proteins whereas strength prevents disruption of the entanglements (Sroan et al. 2009). A combination of extensibility and elasticity, and balance between these two is vital to determine the bread-making quality of wheat flour (Sroan et al. 2009; Li et al. 2015).

Gliadins are classified mainly into four groups based on the electrophoretic mobility at low pH: α -, β -, γ and ω - gliadins (Woychik et al. 1961). Based on the similarity of amino acids and DNA sequences between α - and β - gliadins, they are generally recognized as " α -type" gliadins (Shewry and Tatham 1990). The molecular weight of gliadins ranges from 25,000-75,000 Da. Alfa-type and γ - gliadins are cysteine (sulfur) rich whereas, most ω -gliadins are cysteine (sulfur) poor (Shewry 2019). There are six cysteine residues in α/β -gliadins and eight cysteine residues in γ -gliadins. Disulphide bonds are present as intra-chain crosslinks in all of them (Wieser 2007) (Figure 4). The viscosity of dough comes from the presence of these intra-chain disulphide bonds in α -type and γ - gliadins (Quester et al. 2014). Presence of hydrophilic and hydrophobic parts make α -type and γ - gliadins highly surface-active thus, making them able to absorb onto a hydrophobic surface (Thewissen et al. 2011). Surface active compounds increase the gas holding ability of the dough and stability of the gas cells in the bread (Gan et al. 1995; Örnebro et al. 1999). Thus α -type and γ - gliadins play key roles in dough viscosity and extensibility. However, two ω - gliadins subunits (15+16) at Gli-D1 locus closely linked with Glu-D3 locus which contains a number of genes important for bread making quality. It has been found that ω-15+16 subunits significantly influence the dough strength and pan type of bread-making quality (Wang et al. 2008). It is assumed that ω-gliadins may also form hydrogen bonds in the dough thus, contributing to the viscosity (Wang et al. 2008). General structure of different wheat gluten proteins are shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4 : General structures of wheat gluten proteins. The structures indicate the main domain, number of amino acid residues, conserved cysteine residues (SH) and intramolecular disulfide bonds (lines connecting S S). The sections in α -, β -, ω -gliadin, B-type LMW subunits, x- and y- type HMW subunit are reproduced from Anderson et al. 2012 and Schmid et al. 2017. The disulfide bonds and conserved cysteine residues (SH) are reproduced from Shewry et al. 2003; Anderson et al. 2012; Koehler and Wieser 2013. The number and position of the amino acid residues are reproduced from Shewry et al. 2003. Reproduction of the structures is done with kind permission from *Journal of Cereal Science*, Elsevier and Springer Nature.

Glutenins consist of two different types of proteins high- and low-molecular-weight glutenin subunits (HMW-GSs and LMW-GSs). High molecular weight-GSs are regarded as backbones and the LMW-GS are regarded as the extenders and chain terminators (Masci et al. 1998; Wieser 2007; Johansson et al. 2013). A theoretical structural model of gluten protein network presented in Figure 5 is showing how different HMW-GSs joined by inter-chain disulphide bonds form a backbone and LMW-GSs are cross-linked to each other and to the backbone by inter-chain disulphide bonds.



Figure 5: Theoretical structural model of gluten proteins network; borrowed from Johansson et al. 2013, with kind permission from *Cereal Chemistry*.

The LMW-GSs comprise around 20% of total gluten proteins. According to the molecular weight of the subunits, LMW-GS could be classified into B-, C-, and D-types subunits (Shewry 2019) (Table 1). B-type subunits (40,000-50,000 Da) are the main group of LMW-GS, while C- (30,000-40,000 Da) and D-types are minor groups (modified forms of gliadins) (Lew et al. 1992; Wang et al. 2016; Shewry 2019). LMW-GSs are related to α/β and γ gliadins in their molecular weight (MW), and have similarities in amino acid sequence and presence of cysteine residues (Shewry 2019). A summary of the types and characteristics of wheat gluten proteins is presented in Table 1. Presence of extra two cysteine residues makes LMW-GSs able to form both intra- and inter -chain disulphide bonds with other glutenins (Figures 4 and 5). Thus, LMW-GSs contributes to form longer chains and bigger polymer sizes compared to the gliadins. Different studies have shown, that big gluten polymer size positively correlates with very good bread-making quality (Veraverbeke & Delcour 2002; Wieser 2007; Johansson et al. 2013). Higher expression of B-type glutenin protein is known to responsible for increased gluten strength (De Santis et al. 2017) whereas, C and D types are known to negatively affect dough rheological properties (Giuliani et al. 2015).

HMW-GSs are the most important proteins for determining bread-making quality. Around 60% of the variation in bread making quality is considered to be contributed by the variation of HMW-GSs (Payne et al. 1987). HMW-GSs consist of repetitive central domains rich in glutamine, proline and glycine, and poor in cysteine (sulphur) (Gianibelli et al. 2001). The repetitive β - turns in the central domain form an elastic β -spiral similar to the mammalian connective tissue protein elastin (Tatham et al., 1985), which gives to a protein a rigid rod-like structure (Veraverbeke & Delcour 2002). Formation of intra-chain hydrogen bond between the glutamine rich domains in HMW-GSs is another possible reason behind elasticity in wheat dough (Belton 1999).

There are 3-6 HMW-GSs that are reported in wheat genotypes (Johansson et al. 2013). These are further divided into two types based on their molecular weight, x-type subunit (80,000 - 90,000 Da) and y-type subunit (65,000 – 75,000 Da) (Veraverbeke and Delcour 2002; Shewry 2019) (Table 2). The

number and distribution of cysteine residues in HMW-GSs are considered to be the main reason behind dough elasticity. Cysteine residues are potential sites for the formation of intermolecular disulfide bonds (Shewry et al. 1995). The total number of cysteine residues in x and y-type subunit is four and seven, respectively (Figure 4). The x-type subunit, 1Dx5 has one extra cysteine residue (Veraverbeke & Delcour 2002). In both x- and y-type subunits, majority of the residues are positioned in the N terminal end of the protein (Veraverbeke & Delcour 2002) (Figures 4). In spite of having a lower number of residues in x-type subunits, the studies have shown a higher effect of x-type subunit on dough elasticity (Wieser & Kieffer 2001; Wieser 2007). However, the biochemical mechanisms of this effect of x-type subunit on dough elasticity is not yet fully understood.

Gluten protein type	Molecular	Total gluten	Polymers or	Partial amino acid
LIMM/ prolomino	mass (Daiton)		monomers	
HMW subunits	65-90,000	6-10	Polymers	30–35% glutamine, 10–16% proline, 15–20% glycine, 0.5–1.5% cysteine, 0.7–1.4% lysine
S-rich prolamins α -gliadins	30-45,000	70-80	Monomers	30–40% glutamine,
γ -gliadins B-type and C-type LMW subunits			Polymers	2–3% cysteine, <1% lysine
S-poor prolamins	20.75.000	10.00	Manamara	
ω-giiaαins	30-75,000	10-20	wonomers	40–50% giutamine, 20–30% proline, 0–0.5% phenylalanine, 0–0.5% lysine, 0 cysteine,1 cysteine residue in D-type LMW subunits
D-type subunits I MW subunits			Polymers	

Table 2: Summary of the types and characteristics of wheat gluten proteins from Shewry 2019.

5. Effect of genotype and environment on gluten quality in wheat

The effect of G, E (climate and growing conditions etc.) and interaction G x E on the total protein concentration and gluten protein types are discussed below.

5.1. Protein concentration in wheat

Grain protein concentration (GPC) is a typical trait of nutritional quality in wheat determined by QTLs (Prasad et al. 1999; Groos et al. 2003). It is rather difficult to find stable QTLs for GPC since GPC is highly polygenic (Prasad et al. 1999; Groos et al. 2003). Previous studies on N use efficiency (NUE) (N uptake and utilization) mapping had shown presence of QTL related to N related traits such as kernel number (KN), thousand-kernel weight (TKW) and, root and shoot biomass, on every chromosome of wheat (Zheng et al. 2010; Sun et al. 2013; Brasier et al. 2020). GPC is also strongly influenced by the environmental and agronomic factors, making difficult to find stable QTLs for GPC. Heritability for GPC was found to range between 0.41 and 0.70 depending on genotype, location of field trials, and computational analysis (Giancaspro et al. 2019). In spite of the difficulty several studies reported identification of GPC QTLs. Six QTLs were identified for GPC on chromosomes 1B, 1D, 3B, 3D, 5D and 7A, explaining 9.8% to15.8% of phenotypic variation of GPC (Goel et al. 2019). Stable QTLs were identified for GPC on chromosomes 2A, 3A, 4D and 7D, and were found to explain about 10% of the phenotypic variation of GPC (Groos et al. 2003). QTLs such as QGpc.ccsu-2D, QGpc.2B-yume and QGpc.ndsu-6Bbis located on 2D, 2B and 6B, respectively, were found to control GPC (Joppa et al. 1997; Prasad et al. 1999; Terasawa et al. 2016). Amount and timing of N fertilization are among the most important environmental factors ensuring GPC, which were found to affect a number of QTLs related to GPC in wheat (Charmet et al. 2005; Mahjourimajd et al. 2016; Brasier et al. 2020).

Grain protein concentration is affected by all the environmental factors i.e. temperature, precipitation, CO₂ concentration, humidity, sun hours etc. that influence N availability in the soil and cultivardetermined development time (CDDT) (Johansson et al. 2020). There is a negative correlation between GPC and CDDT (Malik et al. 2013) (Figure 6). Grain protein concentration is also influenced by rate and timing of the N application (Johansson et al. 2013; Grahmann et al. 2014). Generally, increased N application leads to an increase in GPC (Xue et al., 2016). Grain protein concentration is known to increase by 25% when higher amounts of fertilizer were applied at sowing, before heading and at grain filling comparing with the N fertilizer applied only at sowing period (Johansson et al. 2001). Pre-anthesis N application in combination with higher temperature (24/22 °C) was shown to affect positively GPC (Malik et al. 2013) (Figure 6).

Higher availability of N during the post-anthesis (after anthesis) period also increases the GPC in the grain (Daniel & Triboi 2000; Altenbach et al. 2012; Johansson et al. 2013; Grahmann et al. 2014) (Figure

6). To distribute fertilization at different growth stages was found to be more effective than application of the same N amount at only one time in regard to increasing GPC and improving baking quality of wheat (Grahmann et al. 2014; Xue et al. 2016). Post-anthesis application of N was found to have greatest effect at higher 28/15 °C temperature comparing with 20/15 °C (Savill et al. 2018). However, at higher temperatures (37/28 °C) post-anthesis application of N has very minor effect on the GPC comparing with 24/17 °C (Dupont et al. 2006).

The GPC is generally higher at higher temperatures compared with the lower temperatures, also considering, that at the higher temperatures specially during grain filing, the maturation period is normally shorter and the grain size becomes smaller (Daniel & Triboi 2000; Johansson et al. 2005; Savill et al. 2018; Hernández-Espinosa et al. 2018). Grain protein concentration is negatively correlated with the grain maturation period due to the fact *e.g.* longer grain maturation period leads to higher accumulation of starch (Dupont and Altenbach 2003). As a result of that, an increase of protein dilution and decrease of GPC has been observed (Daniel & Triboi 2000; Johansson et al. 2005; Koga et al. 2015). Varieties show higher bread-making quality under heat stress due to increased grain protein concentration (Flagella et al. 2010; Hernández-Espinosa et al. 2018).

Drought has similar effects as higher temperature as it reduces grain maturation period, kernel size and starch accumulation, and increases GPC (Dupont and Altenbach 2003). Reduction of starch is due to inactivation of starch synthase and *in vivo* crystallization of amylopectin within the amyloplast (Tester et al. 1995). High temperature and drought together was found to reduce the grain maturation period more than individual treatments (Dupont and Altenbach 2003).

 CO_2 concentration is predicted to increase from 350 ppm to 700 ppm by 2050 (Williams et al. 1993). Högy and Fangmeier (2008) reported that wheat productivity and starch concentration in wheat grains increased by 7.6% but GPC reduced by about 14.1% with higher CO_2 concentration depending on the exposure system and rooting volume. A number of other studies also reported that higher CO_2 reduced gluten strength, content of dry/wet gluten, bread volume and thus overall baking quality of wheat flour (Blumenthal et al. 1996; Fangmeier et al. 1999; Wieser et al. 2008; Myers et al. 2014; Panozzo et al. 2014; Buchner et al. 2015). This is due to reduction of GPC and amount of gluten polymers, and increase α -amylase activity in wheat flour (Fangmeier et al. 1999; Pleijel et al. 1999; Wieser et al. 2008).



Figure 6: Summary of the effect of genotype, agronomic and environmental parameters on wheat grain protein concentration. Circles indicate positive (green color) and negative (red color) relation between the parameters and the grain protein concentration; CDDT stands for cultivar-determined development time.

5.2. Gluten polymerization and dough strength

Protein polymerization is largely gene dependent and is rather pre-determined event (Johansson et al. 2005; Malik et al. 2013; Koga et al. 2015). The amount and the size distribution of polymeric proteins can be related to the gluten strength, and these are amongst the most important factors that influence the bread-making quality of wheat (Gupta et al. 1993; Johansson et al. 2001; Johansson et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2016).

Formation of the intra-molecular disulphide bonds is observed in wheat protein such as α/β - gliadins during 3-4 weeks after anthesis, and inter-molecular disulphide bonds in the large SDS-insoluble glutenin polymers around 5-6.5 weeks after anthesis (Every et al. 2003). It is postulated that during this period (5-6.5 weeks after anthesis in glutenins) dehydro-ascorbic acid directly oxidizes glutenin thiols to form intermolecular disulfide bonds in SDS-insoluble glutenin (Every et al. 2003).

Among different environmental factors, timing of nitrogen application and temperature are between the most important parameters that determines the polymerization of wheat protein (Jia et al. 1996; Johansson et al. 2005; Malik et al. 2011; Johansson et al. 2013). Thus, nitrogen and temperature are between the most studied parameters in relation to the bread making quality.

Polymerization of the wheat proteins, %UPP (percentage of un-extractable polymeric protein in total polymeric protein), can be affected by nitrogen fertilizer application (Johansson et al. 2001). Early fertilizer applications (during spike formation) tend to decrease %UPP (Johansson et al. 2001; Malik et al. 2013). Whereas, post-anthesis fertilization tends to increase %UPP which seems to be due to increased ratio of HMW-GS/LMW-GS (Altenbach et al. 2016). A recent study showed that delayed top dressings of nitrogen fertilizer (during the emergence of the top first leaf) resulted higher content of glutenin and glutenin macropolymers than an earlier application of nitrogen fertilizer (during emergence of the fifth leaf from the top) (Zhong et al. 2018).

Hydrogen and electrostatic bonds formation in the proteins and assembly of large glutenin polymers are influenced by precipitations and temperatures (Johansson et al. 2008, 2013, 2020; Koga et al. 2016). In higher temperature, plant development time and grain maturation period tend to get shorter, which decreases starch accumulation, increases GPC and polymeric proteins (Randall and Moss 1990; Johansson et al. 2013; Uhlen et al. 2015). However, positive correlation between the temperatures and protein polymerizations in wheat was observed up to 30 °C (Randall & Moss 1990). Generally, higher variation in the accumulation of polymeric proteins affecting dough strength have been seen during the anthesis period and at the later stage of grain development (Blumenthal et al. 1991; Johansson et al. 2013; Malik et al. 2011). Heat stress (>32-35 °C), particularly during later part of grain filling reduces protein polymerization and thus, result into reduced dough strength (Blumenthal et al. 1991; Blumenthal et al. 1998; Uhlen et al. 1998; Li et al. 2013; Guzman et al. 2016). It was assumed that synthesis of heat shock proteins at heat stress modify glutenin polymerization which might be a reason of reduced dough strength (Blumenthal et al. 1998). In addition, temperature has been found to

have more effect on polymerization in the flour with weaker gluten (Koga et al. 2016), suggesting that there are variations among the genotypes.

Effect of drought stress on protein polymerization is less investigated comparing with the effect of heat stress. Few studies showed, that drought increase polymeric protein and gluten strength (Li et al. 2013; Guzmán et al. 2016; Magallanes-Lopez et al. 2017; Hernández-Espinosa et al. 2018), while other studies showed no effect of drought on the accumulation of polymeric proteins and glutenins/gliadins ratio (Daniel and Triboï 2002; Panozzo et al. 2001).

Increasing concentration of CO_2 was reported to increase the ratio of glutenins/gliadins by 6.3% (Blumenthal et al. 1996). Similar results were reported by Wieser et al. (2008) and Panozzo et al. (2014). The changes in the ratio due to higher concentration of CO_2 were mainly caused by the decrease in gliadins comparing with glutenins (Högy et al. 2009). As a result, higher gluten strength was observed in elevated concentration of CO_2 (Högy et al. 2009). Higher concentration of CO_2 was also found to increase the ratio of LMW-GSs/HMW-GSs (Wieser et al. 2008).

5.3. Genetic composition of gluten proteins

The genetic composition of the gluten proteins and specific subunits are genetically determined (Brites and Carrillo 2001; He et al. 2005; Johansson et al. 2013). Presence of HMW-GSs such as 5+10, 1, 21*, 7+8, 17+18 and 14+15 contributes to more complex structure and tightly linked gluten protein polymer. This complexity is due to the presence of higher amount of cysteine residues compared to HMW-GSs such as, 2+12 and 6+8 (Payne et al. 1987; Shewry et al. 1992). Thus, HMW-GSs such as 5+10, 1, 21*, 21*, 7+8, 17+18 and 14+15 are known to contribute to good bread making quality (Margiotta et al. 1996; Blechl et al. 1998; Johansson et al. 2020). There were also some studies in which 6+8 showed no effect on bread-making quality, while 1 and 17+18 showed negative effect on gluten strength and bread-making quality (Johansson et al. 1993; Johansson et al. 1995; Uhlen 1990).

In general, wheat varieties containing HMW-GSs 5+10 were found to show greater variation and less stability in different locations and fertilizer treatments than the varieties containing subunits 2+12 (Johansson et al. 2000; Hristov et al. 2010). On the other hand, varieties containing HMW-GSs 2+12 are more sensitive and showed greater variability under heat stress (Panozzo and Eagles 2000; Blumenthal et al. 1995).

The temperatures were found to affect significantly the amounts of D- and B-type LMW-GS, ω -gliadins, and α - and γ -gliadins in wheat grown in controlled environment (Koga et al. 2016). The amounts of D-type LMW-GS and ω -gliadins increased with increasing temperature (from 18 to 23 °C) whereas, the amounts of B-type LMW-GS, α - and γ -gliadins decreased at higher temperature (23 °C) (Koga et al. 2016). Another study in the controlled environment showed that an increase in temperature increased α -, β - and ω - gliadin, and decreased γ - gliadin (Daniel & Triboi 2000). Overall proportion of gliadin increase with high temperature (>32-35 °C), particularly during later part of grain filling. This increase was due to the accumulation of C₁₄ amino acids in the gliadin fraction (Blumenthal et al. 1991).

Application of nitrogen fertilizer before anthesis significantly influenced content of ω - gliadin which was found to increase with the higher application of nitrogen (Daniel and Triboi 2000; Dupont et al. 2006). On the other hand, α -gliadins, ω -gliadins and HMW-GS decreased in the absence of post-anthesis nitrogen application (Dupont et al. 2006).

6. Plant breeding and latest methods to evaluate quality stability in wheat

In wheat major omics branches like proteomics, metabolomics and phenomics are not as developed as genomics and transcriptomics (Shah et al. 2018). A combination of multi-disciplinary knowledge is required for the further development of wheat with better performance under climatic variability. In this part, proteomics and phenomics in wheat have been discussed.

6.1. Proteomics

Post-transcriptional and post-translational modifications are vital biological functions and stress coping mechanisms in plants (Eldakak et al. 2013). To understand biological function in plants, and their response to abiotic stresses and stress coping mechanisms it is important to characterize and isolate stress responsive proteins (Shah et al. 2018). Proteomics is an analytical tool that gives information on individual proteins from a complex mixture of proteins, thus helping to understand the specific biological response of each protein that are subjected to environmental stresses (Irar et al. 2010, Sancho et al. 2008). Different studies have shown that protein number, quantity and timing of protein expression are subjected to environmental stress in wheat (Sancho et al. 2008; Yasmeen et al. 2016). Identifying and characterizing stress responsive proteins of interest with the help of proteomics tools is important in order to breed climate stable wheat varieties (Hashiguchi et al. 2010).

From the proteins investigated, potential drought and salinity tolerant protein markers were identified by analyzing the embryo of desiccation tolerant and sensitive wheat varieties (Irar et al. 2010). In addition, differential expression of protein directly linked to the folding and deposition of storage proteins were also identified in wheat (Irar et al. 2010). Proteins related to folding and stress were found to be more abundant in the hard wheat (suitable for making bread) comparing with the soft wheat (suitable for making pasta and cookies) (Lesage et al. 2011). Combined mass spectrometry (MS) and 2 D electrophoresis identified drought and heat stress responsive proteins and up- and down-regulation of several gliadins, as well as LMW-GSs (Yang et al. 2011). In a similar experiment, up-regulation and down-regulation of LMW-GSs of those affecting dough rheological properties were also identified in modern wheat varieties which indicates better gluten strength compared with old group of durum wheat genotypes (De Santis et al. 2017). In the study by De Santis et al (2017), higher expression of ω -type gliadins due to water stress was shown. Other studies have shown similar results where higher

expression of ω -type gliadins were found under water stress (Hurkman et al. 2013; Giuliani et al. 2015). Environmental factors such as, temperature and nitrogen fertilizer, were found to highly affect expression of ω -gliadin (Hurkman et al. 2013; Wan et al. 2014).

MS based approach is commonly used technique in proteomics. MS can facilitate identifying of proteinbased markers for plant breeding which can be used later for selecting superior genotypes (Chawade et al. 2019). MS based approach requires functionally annotated genome of the investigated species and a well curated set of sequences from different sources such as UniProt. The lack of reliable curated sequence databases for plant species is one of the major hurdles limiting progress of advancement of using proteomics in crop science (Bromollow et al. 2017). Thus, more focus should be given to overcome hurdles in proteomics with emphasizing use in food crops such as wheat.

6.2. High throughput plant phenotyping (HTPP)

High-throughput plant phenotyping (HTPP) is a very useful tool to make the molecular plant breeding more effective and time efficient. In addition, HTPP improves understanding of the genotypic effect on phenotype of the plant by identifying molecular marker linked with the certain traits for marker assisted and genomic selection, and contributes to creation of statistical models (Singh et al. 2019; Nguyen et al. 2019). Furthermore, accuracy of these statistical models can be improved through using HTPP (Araus et al. 2018). Thus, HTPP is an excellent tool to make the breeding process faster and more economic, and will help breeders generate varieties more adaptable to diverse challenging environmental scenarios (Lobos et al. 2017; Chawade et al. 2019; Singh et al. 2019).

HTPP can be adopted in many different areas, for example, in improving crop yield and optimizing fertilizers, pesticides, as well as controlling weeds, diseases, irrigation etc. With the help of HTPP, crop performance under low nitrogen level were effectively characterized in wheat and maize (Zaman-Allah et al. 2015). Stable wheat grain quality e.g. protein quantity and quality, is very crucial for food security, especially in a varying climate. There are few examples of using HTPP in mapping wheat grain guality e.g. a use of spectral reflectance for identifying senescence phenotypes in winter wheat (Kipp et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2014). A positive correlation was found between onset of senescence and GPC in winter wheat (Kipp et al. 2014). Spatial and temporal resolution remote sensing data of winter wheat was shown to predict the GPC in wheat during anthesis reliably (Wang et al. 2014). Similarly, hyperspectral traits e.g. reflectance at wavelength 1177 nm and 1227 nm, normalized differential spectral index, differential spectral index, simple ratio index normalized to difference spectral index (NDSI) was shown to predict GPC in rice with high accuracy (R² value 0.68) (Sun et al. 2019). Some HTPP techniques such as, satellite phenotyping, UAVs (e.g. parachutes, rotocopters and fixed wing systems), and proximal phenotyping (e.g. handheld sensors and mobile platforms) have potentiality to be applied to phenotype plants in large fields to detect plant stresses (Chawade et al. 2019). A use of latest the HTTP techniques to predict wheat grain yield and quality such as, size of the grain, protein concentration, starch etc. under controlled stressed conditions in a glass-house and in a field, is of interest to explore in wheat breeding related projects.

HTPP is known to have a bottleneck for crop genetic improvement (Araus et al. 2018), therefore a need and interest in the area of plant phenotyping are increasing, and development of more precise and accurate phenotyping is progressing (Araus et al. 2018; Chawade et al. 2019). Some other limiting factors of HTPP are high infrastructure cost, a lack of skilled people in for example, underdeveloped countries, and a lack of uniform performance of HTTP in different environmental and agronomic conditions (Costa et al. 2019). For example, single and multiple temporal remote sensing phenotyping method requires clear sky and is able to predict wheat grain quality more accurately only during anthesis period (Wang et al. 2014). Other example is that from RGB image acquisition was observed that screening of wheat germplasm worked best only at low and optimum nitrogen levels (Nguyen et al. 2019). Thus, there are needs of optimizing different phenotyping techniques for individual crop of different traits, although this approach would increase the complexity of utilizing HTPP.

7. Crop adaptation and crop quality prediction models

Crop prediction models such as, simulation and genomic selection (GS), can play a very important role in developing genotyping adaptation in crop varieties. For example, simulation modelling can provide the basis for assessing potential crop traits for genotypic adaptation and help to develop crop idiotypes for climate change (Ramirez-Villegas et al. 2015). Genomic selection can be used to take full advantage of molecular markers and accurately predict crop performance (Juliana et al. 2019), where prediction can later be used for improving genotype adaptation. Moreover, climate model can be used to increase management-level adaptation in crop (Corbeels et al. 2018). Different types of crop models in the aspect of crop adaptation and their use in predicting grain protein quality are briefly discussed below.

7.1. Crop simulation models for assessing end-use quality of wheat

Crop simulation models are mainly used to assess the impact of genes, environment, crop management on crop growth and yield, and can be used in prediction of crop performances in relation to climate change (Craufurd et al. 2013; Semenov et al. 2014). Crop simulation models can provide a framework of integrating complex plant physiological processes and their responses to climate and environment, thus improve the understanding of interaction between the climate change and crop performances (Semenov et al. 2014). There are mainly three different types of crop simulation models namely, statistical model, mechanistic/process based model and biophysical model. Statistical methods (i.e. process based models, biophysical model) can be used in a wide range of environment and can account complex interaction between climatic and non-climatic factors thus, could potentially be reasonable tools for assessing climate change impacts on crop performance and grain quality (Asseng et al. 2013), despite their simplicity and frequent calibration (Nuttal et al. 2017). Careful interpretation of relevant model outcome might help breeder to evaluate genotypic adaptation of a crop under current and future climates (Ramirez-Villegas et al. 2015). However, some complexity in using the crop simulation models exists. For example, using different crop simulation modelling systems in projecting climate change impact on crop performance can give different outcomes and bring some uncertainties (Asseng et al. 2013). In order to improve the crop simulation models accuracy and certainty of the outcome of the ensembles of crop models should be used (Martre et al. 2015).

There are a number of crop simulation models for assessing grain quality in wheat, and which were mainly used for grain size and concentration of the nitrogen in the grain (Nuttal et al. 2017). Few crop simulation models such as, Sirius, STICS and APSIM-N in wheat, included the grain protein composition and protein content in the grain (Nuttal et al. 2017). Sirius was used as process-based grain quality simulating model, which predicted nitrogen accumulation at early growth stage and further nitrogen partitioning in gliadin and glutenin at grain maturation stage in wheat (Martre et al. 2006; Aguirrezábal et al. 2009). Accumulation of the albumin, globulin, amphiphilic proteins and carbon during the stages of endosperm cell division and DNA endo-reduplication, accumulation of storage proteins (*e.g.* gliadin and glutenin) and starch after the period of endosperm cell division, are included in the model (Aguirrezábal et al. 2009). Thus, this model includes the environment effect on concentration and composition of wheat grains (Martre et al. 2006).

7.2. Gene based crop quality prediction models

Genomic selection (GS) is selection of breeding lines by using high-density single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) markers across the whole genome of a chosen crop (Akdemir and Isidro-Sánchez 2018). These markers are commonly used to predict complex and quantitative traits in breeding (Poland et al. 2012). In GS, molecular marker-based selection is done using an identified subset of markers associated with the quantitative traits (Bernardo and Yu 2007). Effect of all the markers on the quantitative traits across the genome are obtained by fitting the molecular marker as random variable in a linear model. The breeding value is predicted from the linear model and a training population is used to train/develop the model (Bernardo and Yu 2007; Poland et al. 2012). Phenotype of the training population in relation to the different traits is rather well studied (Michel et al. 2017), and once a suitable model has been developed, it can be further applied to a selection population. Prediction accuracy is normally improved by increasing number of samples in the training population (Kiszonas and Morris 2018; Akdemir and Isidro-Sánchez 2019).

Currently, molecular approach of genotyping such as, next-generation sequencing or genotyping by sequencing, are quite effective methods to generate genome wide markers (SNPs) at relatively low cost and short time (Poland et al. 2012). Therefore, the use of GS in selecting plant breeding materials became quite popular among breeders. To maximize benefits from GS, marker information is needed to be combined with HTPP for achieving the valuable genetic gain from complex traits (Bhat et al. 2016). Integration GS and HTPP in high-yielding climate-resilient wheat breeding programs can accelerate breeding process and the crop genotypic adaptation (Juliana et al. 2019).

GS is a widely used method in the prediction of complex trait such as, yield, however, there are only few example of the use of GS to predict baking quality traits (Battenfield et al. 2016; Guzman et al. 2016; Michel et al. 2018).

Bread making quality in wheat is assessed using a number of tests, including dough rheological tests and baking tests. These tests are normally time consuming, labor intensive, and therefore are expensive, as well as require relatively large amount of flour. In the early stages of breeding program, there are rather limited amounts of flour available, therefore some of the tests such as, dough mixing and baking, cannot be performed. Therefore, GS prediction models that would include dough processing and end-use quality characteristics could potentially assist to breeders in selection of suitable material for making bread and could save time and resources (Battenfield et al. 2016). Highly demanding traits in bread making such as, necessary dough rheology and baking of a final product, were shown to be predicted with a rather high degree of confidence by GS (Guzman et al. 2016). In addition, also GS showed great promise for pre-selecting lines with the superior bread baking quality in early generations, at least 3 years ahead of final quality analysis (Michel et al. 2018). GS facilities for early generation selection of end-use quality characteristics in wheat, leaving larger populations for selection of yield during advanced testing and leading to better gain for both guality and yield in bread wheat breeding programs (Battenfield et al. 2016). Multi-trait simultaneous GS for grain yield, protein content and dough rheological traits have a potential to develop superior varieties with high both yield and end-use quality characteristics (Michel et al. 2018).

7.3. Climate model

Climate models, also known as general circulation models (GCM) that use mathematical equations to characterize how energy and matter interact in different parts of the ocean, atmosphere and land (NOAA 2020). GCMs are complex and operates in the bigger scale (e.g. hundred kilometers). These models can be downscaled and projections from the model can be used with crop model at the field scale. However, downscale version includes more uncertainties in the climate change projection, and these uncertainties vary depending on the choice of locations (Corbeels et al. 2018). The multi-ensembles approach of combining different crop models, downscaled climate models and emissions scenarios can help to minimize uncertainties in crop yield projections (Roudier et al. 2011). Ensemble modeling is used in predicting climate change effect on crop yield and identifying management strategies for adaptation in future climate scenarios (Roudier et al. 2011).

8. Methods for assessing bread making quality in plant breeding and baking industries

Dough rheology is one of the parameters that is used frequently to determine processing and end-use characteristics of wheat flour (Battenfield et al. 2016). There are number of tests to assess the end-use properties of wheat flour (Xiao et al. 2006). Classical assessments tests determine combined contributions of different functional properties of wheat flour on bread quality (Kweon et al. 2014). In addition, more specific wheat flour properties of bread quality can be determined with the conventional tests (Axford et al. 1979). Different tests are favored by the breeders, millers and bakers. Some of commonly used tests are briefly described below.

8.1. Classical tests

Classical tests of dough rheology for assessing mixing and viscoelastic dough properties of wheat flour simulate doughs behavior during the baking process (Michel et al. 2017). Different rheology tests performed by farinograph, mixograph, extensograph, and alveograph, are the most traditional and widely used by industry to monitor wheat flour quality for a commercial bread production (Oliver and Allen 1992; Kweon et al. 2014). These tests provide information on water-absorption capacity of flour and dough development time under mixing, thus information on these parameters are related to wheat gluten development (Oliver and Allen 1992; Kweon et al. 2014).

Among all the classical tests, mixograph can reveal the maximum number of parameters such as strength, consistency and mixing tolerance of wheat flour dough (Martinant et al. 1998). A typical reomixer curve and measured parameters obtained with reomixer (Bohlin Reologi AB, Lund, Sweden) are shown in Figure 7. Peak time and peak height of the mixing curve are related to gluten strength (Ceresino et al. 2019), where the curve height provides information about the dough consistency and curve width indicates mixing tolerance (Martinant et al. 1998). Since Rheomixer correlation between the bread volume and dough rheology tests is not consistent, there is a need to use complementary tests such as, farinograph, alveograph and baking test (Prashant et al. 2015). Alveograph test can be used for both hard and soft wheat flours, and provides information on flour dough forming properties and gluten strength (Zhang et al. 2007; Kweon et al. 2011).



Figure 7: A typical Reomixer curve of wheat dough; mixing curve parameters A1-A5 and B1-B5 determined at different development time T (minutes).

Extensograph test describes the ratio between the dough strength and extensibility at different resting periods, which can be related to the bread making quality of the flour (Fu et al. 2017). Extensographs' parameters may be used in assessing the impact of gluten polymer size on dough strength and extensibility (Bangur et al. 1997).

A major advantage of the classical methods estimating wheat flour dough quality parameters is that these tests are critically related to dough handling and bread-making behavior during baking processes (Fu et al. 2017). Thus, these tests are widely used for quality control by millers, wheat flour-processers, bakers and plant breeders (Michel et al. 2017).

Few disadvantages of farinograph and extensograph methods are that they measure combined and cumulative contributions of the major flour functional components such as, damaged starch, gluten proteins and arabinoxylans (also known as pentosanes) on bread-making quality. Thus, individual functional contribution of each of those wheat flour components separately cannot be revealed by the classical tests (Kweon et al. 2011). Also, these quality tests generally require large amounts of wheat flour (2–5 kg) for milling and testing, and therefore are labor intensive, expensive and throughput is rather low (Fu et al. 2017). Therefore, a small scale rapid and convenient determination method for assessing bread baking quality is in high demand (Zhao et al. 2012).

8.2. Conventional tests

Small-scale tests for assessing bread-making quality are essential in wheat breeding in order to select suitable varieties at early selection stages, and to save time and expenses (Axford et al. 1979; Xiao et al. 2006). Flour sedimentation, SRC and SIG are some of those rapid physico-chemical tests that are briefly described here. General principles and reagents used in flour sedimentation, SRC and SIG are briefly presented in Figure 8.



Figure 8: General principles and reagents used in three physico-chemical tests of wheat flour.

Flour sedimentation test is done with sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS). Thus, this test is widely known as SDS sedimentation test. This test measures wheat flour protein aggregative ability and provides a value that is highly associated with the protein concentration and composition (Carter et al. 1999; Zhao et al. 2012; Graybosch et al. 1996). Swelling of the glutenin strands mainly cause the sedimentation whereas, the gliadin is dissolved completely in the SDS solution (Eckert et al. 1993). In addition, SDS sedimentation is a modified version of Zeleny sedimentation (1947) and the results of SDS-sedimentations are known to be better associated with the loaf volume than the Zeleny sedimentation (1947) (Axford et al. 1979). Higher SDS sedimentation volumes are associated with stronger gluten and higher bread baking quality (Axford et al. 1979; Carter et al. 1999; Zhao et al. 2012). Bread baking quality of hard wheats has been found to correlate better with SDS-sedimentation volume than the bread baking quality of soft wheats (Axford et al. 1979).

SDS sedimentation volume of wheat flour has been found to be highly influenced by environment, year, and their interactions with varieties (Bassett et al. 1989; Peterson et al. 1992; Graybosch et al. 1996; Carter et al. 1999). Comparing with the effect of genotypes, the environment was found to have smaller

influence (Peterson et al. 1992), while the year had superior impact to the SDS sedimentation volume of wheat flour (Graybosch et al. 1996). SDS sedimentation volumes were found to be highly heritable (Matuz 1998).

SDS sedimentation test requires only a small amount of whole meal flour, which makes it easy to conduct and is highly reproducible (Carter et al. 1999). Thus, this is rather an effective tool for selecting lines with higher bread baking quality at the early stages of breeding program (Matuz 1998).

Solvent retention capacity (SRC) is another comparatively faster test for measuring quality of wheat flour. The SRC test is generally used for assessing the quality of soft wheat flour products, like cookies and crackers. However, SRC test has potentiality to assess quality of hard flour with higher accuracy (Xiao et al. 2006). A big advantage of SRC test is that different SRC solvents measure the swelling behavior of different flour components e.g. water absorption, gluten strength, damaged starch and arabinoxylans, individually (Guttieri et al. 2002; Walker et al. 2008; Kweon et al. 2011). The 5% w/w lactic acid (LA) in water is considered to be best SRC solvent for assessing bread quality (Walker et al. 2008; Kweon et al. 2011). Wheat genotype and an interaction between the genotype and environment were found to be significantly affecting SRC values (Walker et al. 2008; Švec et al. 2012).

Swelling index of glutenin (SIG) determining the swelling capacity of glutenin is a rapid test and requires a small amount of flour (40 mg) (Wang and Kovacs 2002; Zhao et al. 2012). Similar to SDSsedimentation, SIG is also based on Zeleny test (Wang and Kovacs 2002). However, in SIG the lactic acid concentration is higher than in the SDS sedimentation, which makes the supernatant clearer and overall making easier to observe sedimentation boundary. An advantage of the SIG test over the SDS sedimentation test is that SIG has high correlation with insoluble glutenin content (Wang and Kovacs 2002). In addition, SIG was found to be the best predictor comparing with SDS-sedimentation and SRC of gluten strength across different environments (Guzman et al. 2016).

8.3. Bread baking

Baking tests are considered as the best tool to evaluate baking properties of wheat flour (Frauenlob et al. 2017). For registering wheat varieties officially, bread volume (BV) parameter is needed to be included in the trials in many countries (Michel et al. 2017). It is well known that BV is highly correlated with protein content and increase with increasing amount of protein content. Specific glutenins (polymeric) proteins and total amount of glutenins are positively correlated with the bread volume (Cho et al. 2018). Bread loaf parameters that are generally assessed to measure the quality of the wheat breads (Frauenlob et al. 2018; Cappelli et al. 2020; Alzuwaid et al. 2021) are presented in Figure 9.



Figure 9: Characteristics to assess the quality of the wheat bread loaf

Baking for assessing BVs is time consuming, expensive and needs well equipped laboratories. For determining BV in large number of samples there is high need to develop fast, less laborious and low-cost baking method (Laidig et al. 2018).

There are number of micro-baking methods are available in order to do baking with less amount of flour in less time. These micro baking methods can preliminary indicate baking behavior and approximately predict BV (Frauenlob et al. 2017). However, the available micro-baking methods are limited to determination of bread volume, since important end-use qualities such as, bread crumb and crust characteristics are not assessed by the micro-baking methods (Frauenlob et al. 2017).

9. Conclusions

The climate change is predicted to be more variable and extreme with increasing heat, drought, precipitation and concentration of CO₂ etc. Maintaining wheat yield and grain quality is important for food security, nutrition, economic stability of the wheat processing industries and bread-making quality. Gluten polymerization is one of the determinants of bread-making quality which is affected by climatic variations. Generally, higher temperature affects gluten polymerization positively and grain yield negatively. Thus, developing stable wheat genotypes with constant bread-making quality and yield under all sort of climatic variations is not an easy task. Up and down regulation different stress related proteins in various growing environments might be identified using proteomics tools which could be useful for wheat breeding in developing climate stable genotypes and can make the breeding process faster and efficient. Efficiency in plant breeding can be also increased with the use of HTPP however, better optimization of different HTPP techniques for individual crop of different traits is needed. Use of different prediction models for estimate crop performance is popular now and widely used to assess the effect of climatic variation on wheat grain quality. Crop simulation models such as, Sirius, STICS and APSIM-N in wheat can assess GPC, grain size and the quality parameter such as grain protein composition in relation to climatic variations. At pedigree breeding actual gluten quality assessment tests are favored by the breeder, therefore a use of already available different conventional and empirical tests, in combination of new robust methods for assessing flour quality are desired. Therefore, high throughput flour quality testing methods are needed to be developed.

10. References

- AGUIRREZÁBAL, L., MARTRE, P., PEREYRA-IRUJO, G., IZQUIERDO, N. & ALLARD, V. 2009. Management and Breeding Strategies for the Improvement of Grain and Oil Quality. In: Sadras, V. & Calderini, D. *Crop physiology: applications for genetic improvement and agronomy*, Elsevier.
- AKDEMIR, D. & ISIDRO-SÁNCHEZ, J. 2019. Design of training populations for selective phenotyping in genomic prediction. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 1-15.
- AKTER, N. & RAFIQUL ISLAM, M. 2017. Heat stress effects and management in wheat. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 37, 1-17.
- ALTENBACH, S. B. 2012. New insights into the effects of high temperature, drought and postanthesis fertilizer on wheat grain development. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 56, 39-50.
- ALTENBACH, S. B., TANAKA, C. K., WHITEHAND, L. C. & VENSEL, W. H. 2016. Effects of post-anthesis fertilizer on the protein composition of the gluten polymer in a US bread wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 68, 66-73.
- ALZUWAID, N. T., PLEMING, D., FELLOWS, C. M. & SISSONS, M. 2021. Fortification of durum wheat spaghetti and common wheat bread with wheat bran protein concentrate-impacts on nutrition and technological properties. *Food chemistry*, 334, 1-10.
- AMOS, P. K. T., MARIA VAL, M. & COLETTE, L. H. 2014. Threat to future global food security from climate change and ozone air pollution. *Nature Climate Change*, 4, 817–821.
- ANDERSON, O., DONG, L., HUO, N. & GU, Y. 2012. A New Class of Wheat Gliadin Genes and Proteins. *PloS ONE*, 7, 1-9.
- ARAUS, J. L., KEFAUVER, S. C., ZAMAN-ALLAH, M., OLSEN, M. S. & CAIRNS, J. E. 2018. Translating High-Throughput Phenotyping into Genetic Gain. *Trends in Plant Science*, 23, 451-466.
- ASSENG, S., EWERT, F., ROSENZWEIG, C., JONES, J., HATFIELD, J., RUANE, A., BOOTE, K., THORBURN, P., RÖTTER, R., CAMMARANO, D., BRISSON, N., BASSO, B., MARTRE, P., AGGARWAL, P., ANGULO, C., BERTUZZI, P., BIERNATH, C., CHALLINOR, A., DOLTRA, J., GAYLER, S., GOLDBERG, R., GRANT, R., HENG, L., HOOKER, J., HUNT, L., INGWERSEN, J., IZAURRALDE, R., KERSEBAUM, K., MÜLLER, C., NARESH KUMAR, S., NENDEL, C., O'LEARY, G., OLESEN, J., OSBORNE, T., PALOSUO, T., PRIESACK, E., RIPOCHE, D., SEMENOV, M., SHCHERBAK, I., STEDUTO, P., STÖCKLE, C., STRATONOVITCH, P., STRECK, T., SUPIT, I., TAO, F., TRAVASSO, M., WAHA, K., WALLACH, D., WHITE, J., WILLIAMS, JR. & WOLF, J. 2013. Uncertainty in simulating wheat yields under climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 3, 827–832
- ASSENG, S., MARTRE, P., MAIORANO, A., RÖTTER, R. P., O'LEARY, G. J., FITZGERALD, G. J., GIROUSSE, C., MOTZO, R., GIUNTA, F., BABAR, M. A., REYNOLDS, M. P., KHEIR, A. M. S., THORBURN, P. J., WAHA, K., RUANE, A. C., AGGARWAL, P. K., AHMED, M., BALKOVIČ, J., BASSO, B., BIERNATH, C., BINDI, M., CAMMARANO, D., CHALLINOR, A. J., DE SANCTIS, G., DUMONT, B., EYSHI REZAEI, E., FERERES, E.,

FERRISE, R., GARCIA-VILA, M., GAYLER, S., GAO, Y., HORAN, H., HOOGENBOOM, G., IZAURRALDE, R. C., JABLOUN, M., JONES, C. D., KASSIE, B. T., KERSEBAUM, K. C., KLEIN, C., KOEHLER, A. K., LIU, B., MINOLI, S., MONTESINO SAN MARTIN, M., MÜLLER, C., NARESH KUMAR, S., NENDEL, C., OLESEN, J. E., PALOSUO, T., PORTER, J. R., PRIESACK, E., RIPOCHE, D., SEMENOV, M. A., STÖCKLE, C., STRATONOVITCH, P., STRECK, T., SUPIT, I., TAO, F., VAN DER VELDE, M., WALLACH, D., WANG, E., WEBBER, H., WOLF, J., XIAO, L., ZHANG, Z., ZHAO, Z., ZHU, Y. & EWERT, F. 2019. Climate change impact and adaptation for wheat protein. *Global Change Biology*, 25, 155-173.

- ATLIN, G., CAIRNS, J. & DAS, B. 2017. Rapid breeding and varietal replacement are critical to adaptation of cropping systems in the developing world to climate change. *Global Food Security*, 12, 31-37.
- AXFORD, D. W. E., MCDERMOTT, E. E. & REDMAN, D. G. 1979. Note on the sodium dodecyl sulfate test of breadmaking quality: comparison with Pelshenke and Zeleny tests. *Cereal Chemistry*, 56, 582-584.
- BANGUR, R., BATEY, I. L., MCKENZIE, E. & MACRITCHIE, F. 1997. Dependence of Extensograph Parameters on Wheat Protein Composition Measured by SE-HPLC. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 25, 237-241.
- BASSETT, L., ALLAN, R. & RUBENTHALER, G. 1989. Genotype × Environment Interactions on Soft White Winter Wheat Quality. *Agronomy Journal.* 81, 955-960.
- BATTENFIELD, S. D., GUZMAN, C., GAYNOR, R. C., SINGH, R. P., PENA, R. J., DREISIGACKER, S., FRITZ, A. K. & POLAND, J. A. 2016. Genomic Selection for Processing and End-Use Quality Traits in the CIMMYT Spring Bread Wheat Breeding Program. *Plant Genome*, 9, 1-12.
- BELTON, P. S. 1999. On the elasticity of wheat gluten. Journal of Cereal Science, 29, 103-107.
- BERNARDO, R. & YU, J. 2007. Prospects for Genomewide Selection for Quantitative Traits in Maize. Crop Science, 47, 1082-1090.
- BHAT, J. A., ALI, S., SALGOTRA, R. K., MIR, Z. A., DUTTA, S., JADON, V., TYAGI, A., MUSHTAQ, M., JAIN, N., SINGH, P. K., SINGH, G. P. & PRABHU, K. V. 2016. Genomic Selection in the of Next Generation Sequencing for Complex Traits in Plant Breeding. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 7, 1-11.
- BLECHL, A. E., LE, H. Q. & ANDERSON, O. D. 1998. Engineering changes in wheat flour by genetic transformation. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 152, 703-707.
- BLUMENTHAL, C. S., BATEY, I. L., WRIGLEY, C. W. & BARLOW, E. W. R. 1990. Involvement of a novel peptide in the heat shock response of Australian wheats. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 17, 441 - 449
- BLUMENTHAL, C. S., BATEY, I. L., BEKES, F., WRIGLEY, C. W. & BARLOW, E. W. R. 1991. Seasonal changes in wheat-grain quality associated with high temperatures during grain filling. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 42, 21-30.

- BLUMENTHAL, C. S., BARLOW, E. W. R. & WRIGLEY, C. W. 1993. Growth environment and wheat quality: the effect of heat stress on dough properties and gluten proteins. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 18, 3-21.
- BLUMENTHAL, C., GRAS, P. W., BEKES, F., BARLOW, E. W. R. & WRIGLEY, C. W. 1995. Possible role for the Glu-D1 locus with respect to tolerance to dough-quality change after heat stress. *Cereal Chemistry*, 72, 135-136.
- BLUMENTHAL, C., RAWSON, H. M., MCKENZIE, E., GRAS, P., BARLOW, E. & WRIGLEY, C. 1996. Changes in Wheat Grain Quality Due to Doubling the Level of Atmospheric CO₂. *Cereal Chemistry*, 73, 762–766.
- BLUMENTHAL, C., STONE, P., GRAS, P., BEKES, F., CLARKE, B., BARLOW, E., APPELS, R.
 & WRIGLEY, C. 1998. Heat-Shock Protein 70 and Dough-Quality Changes Resulting from Heat Stress During Grain Filling in Wheat. *Cereal Chemistry*, 75, 43-50.
- BOGARD, M., JOURDAN, M., ALLARD, V., MARTRE, P., PERRETANT, M. R., RAVEL, C., HEUMEZ, E., ORFORD, S., SNAPE, J., GRIFFITHS, S., GAJU, O., FOULKES, J. & LE GOUIS, J. 2011. Anthesis date mainly explained correlations between post-anthesis leaf senescence, grain yield, and grain protein concentration in a winter wheat population segregating for flowering time QTLs. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 62, 3621-3636.
- BRASIER, K., WARD, B., SMITH, J., SEAGO. J., OAKES. J., BALOTA, M., DAVIS, P.,
 FOUNTAIN, M., BROWN-GUEDIRA, G., SNELLER, C., THOMASON, W. & GRIFFEY,
 G. 2020. Identification of quantitative trait loci associated with nitrogen use efficiency in
 winter wheat. *PLoS ONE*, 15, 1-23.
- BRITES, C. & CARRILLO, J. 2001. Influence of High Molecular Weight (HMW) and Low Molecular Weight (LMW) Glutenin Subunits Controlled by Glu1 and Glu3 Loci on Durum Wheat Quality. *Cereal Chemistry*, 78, 59-63.
- BROMILOW, S., GETHINGS, L. A., BUCKLEY, M., BROMLEY, M., SHEWRY, P. R., LANGRIDGE, J. I. & CLARE MILLS, E. N. 2017. A curated gluten protein sequence database to support development of proteomics methods for determination of gluten in glutenfree foods. *Journal of Proteomics*, 163, 67-75.
- BUCHNER, P., TAUSZ, M., FORD, R., LEO, A., FITZGERALD, G., HAWKESFORD, M. & TAUSZ-POSCH, S. 2015. Expression patterns of C- and N-metabolism related genes in wheat are changed during senescence under elevated CO2 in dry-land agriculture. *Plant Science*, 236, 239-249.
- CAPPELLI, A., CANESSA, J. & CINI, E. 2020. Effects of CO2 snow addition during kneading on thermoregulation, dough rheological properties, and bread characteristics: A focus on ancient and modern wheat cultivars. *International Journal of Refrigeration*, 117, 52-60.
- CARTER, B., MORRIS, C. F. & ANDERSON, J. A. 1999. Optimizing the SDS Sedimentation Test for End-Use Quality Selection in a Soft White and Club Wheat Breeding Program. *Cereal Chemistry*, 76, 907-911.

- CERESINO, E. B., KUKTAITE, R., SATO, H. H., HEDENQVIST, M. S. & JOHANSSON, E. 2019. Impact of gluten separation process and transglutaminase source on gluten based dough properties. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 87, 661-669.
- CHANGIZI, M., CHOUKAN, R., HERAVAN, E., BIHAMTA, M. & DARVISH, F. 2014. Evaluation of genotype×environment interaction and stability of corn hybrids and relationship among univariate parametric methods. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 94, 1255-1267.
- CHARMET, G., ROBERT, N., BRANLARD, G., LINOSSIER, L., MARTRE, P. & TRIBOÏ, E. 2005. Genetic analysis of dry matter and nitrogen accumulation and protein composition in wheat kernels. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 111, 540-550.
- CHAUDHARY, N., DANGI, P. & KHATKAR, B. S. 2016. Relationship of molecular weight distribution profile of unreduced gluten protein extracts with quality characteristics of bread. *Food chemistry*, 210, 325-331.
- CHAWADE, A., HAM, V. J., BLOMQUIST, H., BAGGE, O., ALEXANDERSSON, E. & ORTIZ, R. 2019. High-Throughput Field-Phenotyping Tools for Plant Breeding and Precision Agriculture. *Agronomy*, 9, 1-18.
- CHO, K., KANG, C.-S., KANG, T.-G., CHO, K.-M. & PARK, C. 2018. Influence of different nitrogen application on flour properties, gluten properties by HPLC and end-use quality of Korean wheat. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 17, 982-993.
- CIAFFI, M., TOZZI, L., BORGHI, B., CORBELLINI, M. & LAFIANDRA, D. 1996. Effect of Heat Shock During Grain Filling on the Gluten Protein Composition of Bread Wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 24, 91-100.
- CORBEELS, M., BERRE, D., RUSINAMHODZI, L. & LOPEZ-RIDAURA, S. 2018. Can we use crop modelling for identifying climate change adaptation options? *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 256-257, 46-52.
- COREY, L., PEDRAM, R. & NAVIN, R. 2016. Influence of extreme weather disasters on global crop production. *Nature*, 529, 84-87.
- CRAUFURD, P. Q., VADEZ, V., JAGADISH, S. V. K., PRASAD, P. V. V. & ZAMAN-ALLAH, M. 2013. Crop science experiments designed to inform crop modeling. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 170, 8-18.
- DANIEL, C. & TRIBOI, E. 2000. Effects of Temperature and Nitrogen Nutrition on the Grain Composition of Winter Wheat: Effects on Gliadin Content and Composition. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 32, 45-56.
- DAS, A., PAUDEL, B. & ROHILA, J. 2015. Potentials of Proteomics in Crop Breeding. In: Al-Khayri J., Jain S., Johnson D. Advances in Plant Breeding Strategies: Breeding, Biotechnology and Molecular Tools. Springer.
- DE SANTIS, M. A., GIULIANI, M. M., GIUZIO, L., DE VITA, P., LOVEGROVE, A., SHEWRY, P.
 R. & FLAGELLA, Z. 2017. Differences in gluten protein composition between old and modern durum wheat genotypes in relation to 20th century breeding in Italy. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 87, 19-29.

- DENGPAN, X., HUIZI, B. & DE LI, L. 2018. Impact of Future Climate Change on Wheat Production: A Simulated Case for China's Wheat System. *Sustainability*, 10, 1-15.
- DRECCER, M., BONNETT, D. & LAFARGE, D. 2012. Plant Breeding plant breeding Under a Changing Climate plant breeding under a changing climate. In: Christou P., Savin R., Costa-Pierce B.A., Misztal I., Whitelaw C.B.A. *Sustainable Food Production*. Springer.
- DUPONT, F. M. & ALTENBACH, S. 2003. Molecular and biochemical impacts of environmental factors on wheat grain development and protein yield. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 38, 133-146.
- DUPONT, F. M., HURKMAN, W. J., VENSEL, W. H., TANAKA, C., KOTHARI, K. M., CHUNG,
 O. K. & ALTENBACH, S. B. 2006. Protein accumulation and composition in wheat grains:
 Effects of mineral nutrients and high temperature. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 25, 96-107.
- EEA. 2018. Climate change threatens future of farming in Europe. Available: https://www.eea.europa.eu/highlights/climate-change-threatens-future-of [2020-10-13]
- ECKERT, B., AMEND, T. & BELITZ, H. D. 1993. The course of the SDS and Zeleny sedimentation tests for gluten quality and related phenomena studied using the light microscope. *Zeitschrift f r Lebensmittel-Untersuchung und -Forschung*, 196, 122-125.
- ELDAKAK, M., MILAD, S., NAWAR, A. & ROHILA, J. 2013. Proteomics: a biotechnology tool for crop improvement. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 4, 1-12.
- ENGHIAD, A., UFER, D., COUNTRYMAN, A. & THILMANY, D. 2017. An Overview of Global Wheat Market Fundamentals in an Era of Climate Concerns. *International Journal of Agronomy*, 2017, 1-15.
- EVERY, D., GRIFFIN, W. & WILSON, P. 2003. Ascorbate Oxidase, Protein Disulfide Isomerase, Ascorbic Acid, Dehydroascorbic Acid and Protein Levels in Developing Wheat Kernels and Their Relationship to Protein Disulfide Bond Formation. *Cereal Chemistry*, 80, 35-39.
- FANGMEIER, A., DE TEMMERMAN, L., MORTENSEN, L., KEMP, K., BURKE, J., MITCHELL, R., VAN OIJEN, M. & WEIGEL, H. J. 1999. Effects on nutrients and on grain quality in spring wheat crops grown under elevated CO2 concentrations and stress conditions in the European, multiple-site experiment 'ESPACE-wheat'. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 10, 215-229.
- FAO. 2009. Tackling Climate Change through Plant Breeding and Better Use of Plant Genetic Resources. Available: http://www.fao.org/3/a-at911e.pdf [2020-10-13]
- FAO. 2020. FAOSTAT Statistical Database. Rome, Italy.
- FLAGELLA, Z., GIULIANI, M., GIUZIO, L., VOLPI, C. & MASCI, S. 2010. Influence of water deficit on durum wheat storage protein composition and technological quality. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 33, 197-207.
- FRAUENLOB, J., NAVA, M., D'AMICO, S., GRAUSGRUBER, H., LUCISANO, M. & SCHOENLECHNER, R. 2017. A new micro-baking method for determination of crumb firmness properties in fresh bread and bread made from frozen dough. *Journal of Land Management, Food and Environment,* 68, 29-39.

- FU, B. X., WANG, K., DUPUIS, B. & CUTHBERT, R. D. 2017. A rapid extensigraph protocol for measuring dough viscoelasticity and mixing requirement. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 76, 99-107.
- GAN, Z., ELLIS, P. R. & SCHOFIELD, J. D. 1995. Gas cell stabilisation and gas retention in wheat bread dough. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 21, 215-230.
- GIANCASPRO, A., GIOVE, S. L., ZACHEO, S. A., BLANCO, A. & GADALETA, A. 2019. Genetic Variation for Protein Content and Yield-Related Traits in a Durum Population Derived From an Inter-Specific Cross Between Hexaploid and Tetraploid Wheat Cultivars. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 1-13.
- GIANIBELLI, M. C., LARROQUE, O. R., MACRITCHIE, F. & WRIGLEY, C. W. 2001. Biochemical, Genetic, and Molecular Characterization of Wheat Glutenin and Its Component Subunits. *Cereal Chemistry*, 78, 635-646.
- GIULIANI, M. M., PALERMO, C., DE SANTIS, M. A., MENTANA, A., POMPA, M., GIUZIO, L., MASCI, S., CENTONZE, D. & FLAGELLA, Z. 2015. Differential Expression of Durum Wheat Gluten Proteome under Water Stress during Grain Filling. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 63, 6501-6512.
- GOESAERT, H., BRIJS, K., VERAVERBEKE, W. S., COURTIN, C. M., GEBRUERS, K. & DELCOUR, J. A. 2005. Wheat flour constituents: how they impact bread quality, and how to impact their functionality. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 16, 12-30.
- GRAHMANN, K., VERHULST, N., PEÑA, R. J., BUERKERT, A., VARGAS-ROJAS, L. & GOVAERTS, B. 2014. Durum wheat (Triticum durum L.) quality and yield as affected by tillage–straw management and nitrogen fertilization practice under furrow-irrigated conditions. *Field Crops Research*, 164, 166-177.
- GRAYBOSCH, R., PETERSON, C., SHELTON, D. & BAENZIGER, P. 1996. Genotypic and Environmental Modification of Wheat Flour Protein Composition in Relation to End-Use Quality. *Crop Science*, 36, 296-300.
- GROOS, ROBERT, BERVAS & CHARMET 2003. Genetic analysis of grain protein-content, grain yield and thousand-kernel weight in bread wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 106, 1032-1040.
- GUPTA, R. B., KHAN, K. & MACRITCHIE, F. 1993. Biochemical Basis of Flour Properties in Bread Wheats. I. Effects of Variation in the Quantity and Size Distribution of Polymeric Protein. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 18, 23–41.
- GUTTIERI, M., MCLEAN, R., LANNING, S., TALBERT, L. & SOUZA, E. 2002. Assessing Environmental Influences on Solvent Retention Capacities of Two Soft White Spring Wheat Cultivars. *Cereal Chemistry*, 79, 880-884.
- GUZMÁN, C., POSADAS-ROMANO, G., HERNÁNDEZ-ESPINOSA, N., MORALES-DORANTES, A. & PEÑA, R. J. 2015. A new standard water absorption criteria based on solvent retention capacity (SRC) to determine dough mixing properties, viscoelasticity, and bread-making quality. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 66, 59-65.

- GUZMÁN, C., AUTRIQUE, J. E., MONDAL, S., SINGH, R. P., GOVINDAN, V., MORALES-DORANTES, A., POSADAS-ROMANO, G., CROSSA, J., AMMAR, K. & PEÑA, R. J. 2016. Response to drought and heat stress on wheat quality, with special emphasis on breadmaking quality, in durum wheat. *Field Crops Research*, 186, 157-165.
- HASHIGUCHI, A., AHSAN, N. & KOMATSU, S. 2010. Proteomics application of crops in the context of climatic changes. *Food research international*, 43, 1803-1813.
- HE, Z. H., LIU, L., XIA, X. C., LIU, J. J. & PEÑA, R. J. 2005. Composition of HMW and LMW Glutenin Subunits and Their Effects on Dough Properties, Pan Bread, and Noodle Quality of Chinese Bread Wheats. *Cereal Chemistry*, 82, 345-350.
- HERNANDEZ-ESPINOSA, N., MONDAL, S., AUTRIQUE, E., GONZALEZ-SANTOYO, H., CROSSA, J., HUERTA-ESPINO, J., SINGH, R. & GUZMÁN, C. 2018. Milling, processing and end-use quality traits of CIMMYT spring bread wheat germplasm under drought and heat stress. *Field Crops Research*, 215, 104-112.
- HOCHMAN, Z., GOBBETT, D. L. & HORAN, H. 2017. Climate trends account for stalled wheat yields in Australia since 1990. *Global Change Biology*, 23, 2071-2081.
- HRISTOV, N., MLADENOV, N., DJURIC, V., KONDIC-SPIKA, A., MARJANOVIC-JEROMELA, A. & SIMIC, D. 2010. Genotype by environment interactions in wheat quality breeding programs in southeast Europe. *Euphytica*, 174, 315-324.
- HURKMAN, W., TANAKA, C., VENSEL, W., THILMONY, R. & ALTENBACH, S. 2013. Comparative proteomic analysis of the effect of temperature and fertilizer on gliadin and glutenin accumulation in the developing endosperm and flour from Triticum aestivum L. cv. Butte 86. *Proteome science*, 11, 1-15.
- HÖGY, P. & FANGMEIER, A. 2008. Effects of elevated atmospheric CO2 on grain quality of wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 48, 580-591.
- ICC. 1994. Determination of the Sedimentation value (according to Zeleny) as an approximate measure of baking quality (ICC standard no. 116/1). Winnipeg, Canada
- ICC. 2019. Determination of the Solvent Retention Capacity (SRC) of wheat flour using the CHOPIN-SRC. https://icc.or.at/publications/icc-standards/standards-overview/draft-186-standardmethod [2020-10-13]
- IRAR, S., BRINI, F., GODAY, A., MASMOUDI, K. & PAGÈS, M. 2010. Proteomic analysis of wheat embryos with 2-DE and liquid-phase chromatography (ProteomeLab PF-2D) — A wider perspective of the proteome. *Journal of Proteomics*, 73, 1707-1721.
- JIA, Y. Q., MASBOU, V., AUSSENAC, T., FABRE, J. L. & DEBAEKE, P. 1996. Effects of nitrogen fertilization and maturation conditions on protein aggregates and on the breadmaking quality of soissons, a common wheat cultivar. *Cereal Chemistry*, 73, 123-130.
- COSTA, J. M., SILVA, J. M. D., PINHEIRO, C., BARON, M., MYLONA, P., CENTRITTO, M., HAWORTH, M., LORETO, F., UZILDAY, B., TUKRAN, I. & OLIVEIRA, M. M. 2019.
 Opportunities and Limitations of Crop Phenotyping in Southern European Countries. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 1-16.

- JOHANSSON, E., HENRIKSSON, P., SVENSSON, G. & HENEEN, W. K. 1993. Detection, Chromosomal Location and Evaluation of the Functional Value of a Novel High Mr Glutenin Subunit Found in Swedish Wheats. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 17, 237-245.
- JOHANSSON, E., SVENSSON, G. & HENEEN, W. 1995. Composition of High-Molecular-Weight Glutenin Subunits in Swedish Wheats. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica B - Plant Soil Sciences*, 45, 112-117.
- JOHANSSON, E., SVENSSON, G. & TSEGAYE, S. 1999. Genotype and environment effects on bread-making quality of Swedish-grown wheat cultivars containing high-molecular-weight glutenin subunits 2+12 or 5+10. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica. Section B. Soil and Plant Science, 49, 225-233.
- JOHANSSON, E., PRIETO-LINDE, M. L. & JÖNSSON, J. Ö. 2001. Effects of Wheat Cultivar and Nitrogen Application on Storage Protein Composition and Breadmaking Quality. *Cereal Chemistry*, 78, 19-25.
- JOHANSSON, E. 2002. Effect of two wheat genotypes and Swedish environment on falling number, amylase activities, and protein concentration and composition. *Euphytica*, 126, 143-149.
- JOHANSSON, E., KUKTAITE, R., ANDERSSON, A. & PRIETO-LINDE, M. L. 2005. Protein polymer build-up during wheat grain development: influences of temperature and nitrogen timing. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 85, 473-479.
- JOHANSSON, E., PRIETO-LINDE, M. L. & GISSÉN, C. 2008. Influences of weather, cultivar and fertiliser rate on grain protein polymer accumulation in field-grown winter wheat, and relations to grain water content and falling number. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 88, 2011-2018.
- JOHANSSON, E., MALIK, A. H., HUSSAIN, A., RASHEED, F., NEWSON, W. R., PLIVELIC, T., HEDENQVIST, M. S., GÄLLSTEDT, M. & KUKTAITE, R. 2013. Wheat Gluten Polymer Structures: The Impact of Genotype, Environment, and Processing on Their Functionality in Various Applications. *Cereal Chemistry*, 90, 367-376.
- JOHANSSON, E., BRANLARD, G., CUNIBERTI, M., FLAGELLA, Z., HÜSKEN, A., NURIT, E., PEÑA, R., SISSONS, M. & VAZQUEZ, D. 2020. Genotypic and Environmental Effects on Wheat Technological and Nutritional Quality. In: Igrejas G., Ikeda T., Guzmán C. Wheat Quality For Improving Processing And Human Health. Springer.
- JOPPA, L. R., DU, C., HART, G. E. & HARELAND, G. A. 1997. Mapping gene(s) for grain protein in tetraploid wheat (Triticum turgidum L.) using a population of recombinant inbred chromosome lines. *Crop Science*, 37, 1586-1589.
- JORDBRUKSVERKET. 2018. Livsmedelskonsumtion och näringsinnehåll. (JO 44 SM 1801). Jönköping.
- JORDBRUKSVERKET. 2019. Utrikeshandel inom livsmedelsområdet. Available: https://djur.jordbruksverket.se/amnesomraden/handelmarknad/allmantomhandelsochjordbruks politik/statistikutrikeshandel.4.7a34cbce172e8d52fe81ffeb.html [2020-10-13]
- JORDBRUKSVERKET. 2020. Skörd av spannmål, trindsäd, oljeväxter, potatis och slåttervall 2019. (JO 16 SM 2001). Jönköping

- JULIANA, P., MONTESINOS-LÓPEZ, O., CROSSA, J., MONDAL, S., GONZÁLEZ PÉREZ, L., POLAND, J., HUERTA-ESPINO, J., CRESPO-HERRERA, L., GOVINDAN, V., DREISIGACKER, S., SHRESTHA, S., PÉREZ-RODRÍGUEZ, P., PINTO ESPINOSA, F. & SINGH, R. 2019. Integrating genomic-enabled prediction and high-throughput phenotyping in breeding for climate-resilient bread wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 132, 177-194.
- KAHILUOTO, H., KASEVA, J., BALEK, J., OLESEN, J. E., RUIZ-RAMOS, M., GOBIN, A.,
 KERSEBAUM, K. C., TAKAC, J., RUGET, F., FERRISE, R., BEZAK, P., CAPELLADES,
 G., DIBARI, C., MAKINEN, H., NENDEL, C., VENTRELLA, D., RODRIGUEZ, A.,
 BINDI, M. & TRNKA, M. 2019. Decline in climate resilience of European wheat.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 116, 123-128.
- KIMBALL, B., MORRIS, C. F., JR, P., WALL, G., HUNSAKER, D., ADAMSEN, F., LAMORTE, R., THOMPSON, T. L., MATTHIAS, A. & BROOKS, T. 2001. Elevated CO₂, drought and soil nitrogen effects on wheat grain quality. *New Phytologist*, 150, 295-303.
- KIPP, S., MISTELE, B. & SCHMIDHALTER, U. 2014. Identification of stay-green and early senescence phenotypes in high-yielding winter wheat, and their relationship to grain yield and grain protein concentration using high-throughput phenotyping techniques. *Functional Plant Biology*, 41, 227-235.
- KISZONAS, A. M. & MORRIS, C. F. 2018. Wheat breeding for quality: A historical review. *Cereal Chemistry*, 95, 17-34.
- KLIMAT- OCH SÅRBARHETSUTREDNINGEN. 2007. Sverige inför klimatförändringarna hot och möjligheter. (SOU 2007:60). Stockholm: Miljödepartementet.
- KOGA, S., BÖCKER, U., MOLDESTAD, A., TOSI, P., SHEWRY, P. R., MOSLETH, E. F. & UHLEN, A. K. 2015. Influence of temperature on the composition and polymerization of gluten proteins during grain filling in spring wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Journal of Cereal Science*, 65, 1-8.
- KOGA, S., BÖCKER, U., UHLEN, A. K., HOEL, B. & MOLDESTAD, A. 2016. Investigating environmental factors that cause extreme gluten quality deficiency in winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B - Soil & Plant Science*, 66, 237-246.
- KOPPEL, R. & INGVER, A. 2010. Stability and predictability of baking quality of winter wheat. *Agronomy Research*, 8, 637-644.
- KUKTAITE, R., LARSSON, H. & JOHANSSON, E. 2003. Protein composition in different phases obtained by the ultracentrifugation of dough. *Acta Agronomica Hungarica*, 51, 163-172.
- KUKTAITE, R., LARSSON, H. & JOHANSSON, E. 2004. Variation in protein composition of wheat flour and its relationship to dough mixing behaviour. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 40, 31-39.
- KUKTAITE, R. 2004. Protein Quality in Wheat. Changes in Protein Polymer Composition during Grain Development and Dough Processing. Doctoral Thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Alnarp, Sweden.

- KWEON, M., SLADE, L. & LEVINE, H. 2011. Solvent Retention Capacity (SRC) Testing of Wheat Flour: Principles and Value in Predicting Flour Functionality in Different Wheat-Based Food Processes and in Wheat Breeding—A Review. *Cereal Chemistry*, 88, 537-552.
- KWEON, M., SLADE, L., LEVINE, H. & GANNON, D. 2014. Cookie- Versus Cracker-Baking-What's the Difference? Flour Functionality Requirements Explored by SRC and Alveography. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 54, 115-138.
- LAIDIG, F., PIEPHO, H.-P., HÜSKEN, A., BEGEMANN, J., RENTEL, D., DROBEK, T. & MEYER, U. 2018. Predicting loaf volume for winter wheat by linear regression models based on protein concentration and sedimentation value using samples from VCU trials and mills. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 84, 132-141.
- LANTMÄNNEN. 2019. Annual Review 2019. Available: https://www.lantmannen.com/siteassets/documents/01-om-lantmannen/finansiellinformation/lantmannen_annual_review-2019.pdf. [2020-10-13]
- LANTMÄNNEN. 2020. Wheat. Available: https://www.lantmannen.com/good-food/four-kinds-of-cereal/wheat/ [2020-10-13]
- LEMELIN, E., BRANLARD, G., SALVO, L., LEIN, V., AUSSENAC, T. & DAYDÉ, J. 2005. Breadmaking stability of wheat flours: Relation between mixing properties and molecular weight distribution of polymeric glutenins. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 42, 317-326.
- LENAERTS, B., COLLARD, B. C. Y. & DEMONT, M. 2019. Review: Improving global food security through accelerated plant breeding. *Plant Science*, 287, 1-8.
- LESAGE, V., MERLINO, M., CHAMBON, C., BOUCHET, B., MARION, D. & BRANLARD, G. 2011. Proteomes of hard and soft near-isogenic wheat lines reveal that kernel hardness is related to the amplification of a stress response during endosperm development. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 63, 1001-1011.
- LEW, E. J. L., KUZMICKY, D. D. & KASARDA, D. D. 1992. Characterization of low molecular weight glutenin subunits by reversed-phase highperformance liquid chromatography, sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, and N-terminal amino acid sequencing. *Cereal Chemistry*, 69, 508-515.
- LI, Y. F., WU, Y., HERNANDEZ-ESPINOSA, N. & PEÑA, R. J. 2015. Comparing Small-Scale Testing Methods for Predicting Wheat Gluten Strength Across Environments. *Cereal Chemistry*, 92, 231-235.
- LIN, C. & BINNS, M. 1988. A method of analyzing cultivar x location x year experiments: a new stability parameter. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 76, 425-430.
- LIN, C., BINNS, M. & LEFKOVITCH, L. 1986. Stability Analysis: Where Do We Stand? *Crop Science*, 26, 894-900.
- LOBOS, G. A., CAMARGO, A. V., DEL POZO, A., ARAUS, J. L., ORTIZ, R. & DOONAN, J. H. 2017. Editorial: Plant Phenotyping and Phenomics for Plant Breeding. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8, 1-3.

- MAGALLANES-LÓPEZ, A. M., AMMAR, K., MORALES-DORANTES, A., GONZÁLEZ-SANTOYO, H., CROSSA, J. & GUZMÁN, C. 2017. Grain quality traits of commercial durum wheat varieties and their relationships with drought stress and glutenins composition. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 75, 1-9.
- MALIK, A. H., PRIETO-LINDE, M. L., KUKTAITE, R., ANDERSSON, A. & JOHANSSON, E. 2011. Individual and interactive effects of cultivar maturation time, nitrogen regime and temperature level on accumulation of wheat grain proteins. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 91, 2192-2200.
- MALIK, A. H., ANDERSSON, A., KUKTAITE, R., MUJAHID, M. Y., KHAN, B. & JOHANSSON, E. 2012. Genotypic Variationin Dry Weight and Nitrogen Concentration of Wheat Plant Parts; Relations to Grain Yield and Grain Protein Concentration. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 4, 1-5.
- MALIK, A. H., KUKTAITE, R. & JOHANSSON, E. 2013. Combined effect of genetic and environmental factors on the accumulation of proteins in the wheat grain and their relationship to bread-making quality. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 57, 170-174.
- MARGIOTTA, B., URBANO, M., COLAPRICO, G., JOHANSSON, E., BUONOCORE, F., D'OVIDIO, R. & LAFIANDRA, D. 1996. Detection of y-type Subunit at theGlu-A1Locus in Some Swedish Bread Wheat Lines. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 23, 203-211.
- MARTINANT, J. P., NICOLAS, Y., BOUGUENNEC, A., POPINEAU, Y., SAULNIER, L. & BRANLARD, G. 1998. Relationships Between Mixograph Parameters and Indices of Wheat Grain Quality. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 27, 179-189.
- MARTRE, P., WALLACH, D., ASSENG, S., EWERT, F., JONES, J. W., RÖTTER, R. P., BOOTE, K. J., RUANE, A. C., THORBURN, P. J., CAMMARANO, D., HATFIELD, J. L., ROSENZWEIG, C., AGGARWAL, P. K., ANGULO, C., BASSO, B., BERTUZZI, P., BIERNATH, C., BRISSON, N., CHALLINOR, A. J., DOLTRA, J., GAYLER, S., GOLDBERG, R., GRANT, R. F., HENG, L., HOOKER, J., HUNT, L. A., INGWERSEN, J., IZAURRALDE, R. C., KERSEBAUM, K. C., MÜLLER, C., KUMAR, S. N., NENDEL, C., O'LEARY, G., OLESEN, J. E., OSBORNE, T. M., PALOSUO, T., PRIESACK, E., RIPOCHE, D., SEMENOV, M. A., SHCHERBAK, I., STEDUTO, P., STÖCKLE, C. O., STRATONOVITCH, P., STRECK, T., SUPIT, I., TAO, F., TRAVASSO, M., WAHA, K., WHITE, J. W. & WOLF, J. 2015. Multimodel ensembles of wheat growth: many models are better than one. *Global Change Biology*, 21, 911-925.
- MASCI, S., D'OVIDIO, R., LAFIANDRA, D. & KASARDA, D. D. 1998. Characterization of a lowmolecular-weight glutenin subunit gene from bread wheat and the corresponding protein that represents a major subunit of the glutenin polymer. *Plant Physiology*, 118, 1147-1158.
- MATUZ, J. 1998. Inheritance of SDS sedimentation volume of flour in crosses of winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Cereal Research Communications*, *26*, *203-210*.
- MICHEL, S., GALLEE, M., LÖSCHENBERGER, F., BUERSTMAYR, H. & KUMMER, C. 2017. Improving the baking quality of bread wheat using rapid tests and genomics: The prediction of dough rheological parameters by gluten peak indices and genomic selection models. *Journal* of Cereal Science, 77, 24-34.

- MICHEL, S., KUMMER, C., GALLEE, M., HELLINGER, J., AMETZ, C., AKGÖL, B., EPURE, D., LÖSCHENBERGER, F. & BUERSTMAYR, H. 2018. Improving the baking quality of bread wheat by genomic selection in early generations. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 131, 477-493.
- MUT, Z., AYDIN, N., BAYRAMOGLU, H. & OZCAN, H. 2010. Stability of some quality traits in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum) genotypes. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, 31, 489-95.
- MYERS, S., ZANOBETTI, A., KLOOG, I., HUYBERS, P., LEAKEY, A., BLOOM, A., CARLISLE,
 E., DIETTERICH, L., FITZGERALD, G., HASEGAWA, T., HOLBROOK, N., NELSON,
 R., OTTMAN, M., RABOY, V., SAKAI, H., SARTOR, K., SCHWARTZ, J., SENEWEERA,
 S., TAUSZ, M. & USUI, Y. 2014. Increasing CO₂ threatens human nutrition. *Nature*, 510, 139-142.
- MÄKINEN, H., KASEVA, J., TRNKA, M., BALEK, J., KERSEBAUM, K. C., NENDEL, C.,
 GOBIN, A., OLESEN, J. E., BINDI, M., FERRISE, R., MORIONDO, M., RODRÍGUEZ, A.,
 RUIZ-RAMOS, M., TAKÁČ, J., BEZÁK, P., VENTRELLA, D., RUGET, F.,
 CAPELLADES, G. & KAHILUOTO, H. 2018. Sensitivity of European wheat to extreme
 weather. *Field Crops Research*, 222, 209-217.
- NASA. 2019. 2018 fourth warmest year in continued warming trend, according to NASA, NOAA. Available: https://climate.nasa.gov/news/2841/2018-fourth-warmest-year-in-continuedwarming-trend-according-to-nasa-noaa/ [2020-10-13]
- NASA. 2020a. GISS Surface Temperature Analysis (GISTEMP). Available: https://data.giss.nasa.gov/gistemp/[2020-10-13]
- NASA. 2020b. The Effects of Climate Change. Available: https://climate.nasa.gov/effects [2020-10-13]
- NGUYEN, G. N., MAHARJAN, P., MAPHOSA, L., VAKANI, J., THODAY-KENNEDY, E. & KANT, S. 2019. A Robust Automated Image-Based Phenotyping Method for Rapid Vegetative Screening of Wheat Germplasm for Nitrogen Use Efficiency. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 1-15.
- NOAA. 2020. Climate model. Available: https://www.climate.gov/maps-data/primer/climate-models [2020-10-13]
- NUTTALL, J. G., O'LEARY, G. J., PANOZZO, J. F., WALKER, C. K., BARLOW, K. M. & FITZGERALD, G. J. 2017. Models of grain quality in wheat-A review. *Field Crops Research*, 202, 136-145.
- OLIVER, J. & ALLEN, H. 1992. The prediction of bread baking performance using the Farinograph and Extensograph. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 15, 79-89.
- PANOZZO, J. F. & EAGLES, H. A. 2000. Cultivar and environmental effects on quality characters in wheat. II. Protein. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 51, 629-636.
- PANOZZO, J., EAGLES, H. & WOOTTON, M. 2001. Changes in protein composition during grain development. *Crop and Pasture Science*, 52, 485-493.

- PANOZZO, J. F., WALKER, C. K., PARTINGTON, D. L., NEUMANN, N. C., TAUSZ, M., SENEWEERA, S. & FITZGERALD, G. J. 2014. Elevated carbon dioxide changes grain protein concentration and composition and compromises baking quality. A FACE study. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 60, 461-470.
- PAYNE, P. I., NIGHTINGALE, M. A., KRATTIGER, A. F. & HOLT, L. M. 1987. The relationship between HMW glutenin subunit composition and the bread-making quality of British-grown wheat varieties. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 40, 51-65.
- PEÑA, R. J. 2007. Current and Future Trends of Wheat Quality Needs, Dordrecht, Springer Netherlands.
- PETERSON, C., GRAYBOSCH, R., BAENZIGER, P. & GROMBACHER, A. 1992. Genotype and Environment Effects on Quality Characteristics of Hard Red Winter Wheat. *Crop Science*, 32, 98-103.
- PLEIJEL, H., MORTENSEN, L., FUHRER, J., OJANPERÄ, K. & DANIELSSON, H. 1999. Grain protein accumulation in relation to grain yield of spring wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) grown in open-top chambers with different concentrations of ozone, carbon dioxide and water availability. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 72, 265-270.
- POLAND, J., ENDELMAN, J., DAWSON, J., RUTKOSKI, J., WU, S. Y., MANES, Y., DREISIGACKER, S., CROSSA, J., SANCHEZ-VILLEDA, H., SORRELLS, M. & JANNINK, J. L. 2012. Genomic Selection in Wheat Breeding using Genotyping-by-Sequencing. *Plant Genome*, 5, 103-113.
- PORTER, J. R. & GAWITH, M. 1999. Temperatures and the growth and development of wheat: a review. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 10, 23-36.
- PRASAD, M., VARSHNEY, R. K., KUMAR, A., BALYAN, H. S., SHARMA, P. C., EDWARDS, K. J., SINGH, H., DHALIWAL, H. S., ROY, J. K. & GUPTA, P. K. 1999. A microsatellite marker associated with a QTL for grain protein content on chromosome arm 2DL of bread wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 99, 341-345.
- PRASHANT, R., MANI, E., RAI, R., GUPTA, R. K., TIWARI, R., DHOLAKIA, B., OAK, M., RÖDER, M., KADOO, N. & GUPTA, V. 2015. Genotype × environment interactions and QTL clusters underlying dough rheology traits in Triticum aestivum L. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 64, 82-91.
- PURCHASE, J. L., HATTING, H. & VAN DEVENTER, C. S. 2000. Genotype × environment interaction of winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) in South Africa: I. AMMI analysis of yield performance. *South African Journal of Plant and Soil*, 17, 95-100.
- QIAN, B., DE JONG, R., HUFFMAN, T., WANG, H. & YANG, J. 2016. Projecting yield changes of spring wheat under future climate scenarios on the Canadian Prairies. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 123, 651-669.
- QUESTER, S., DAHESH, M. & STREY, R. 2014. Microcellular foams made from gliadin. *Colloid and Polymer Science*, 292, 2385-2389.
- RAMIREZ-VILLEGAS, J., WATSON, J. & CHALLINOR, A. J. 2015. Identifying traits for genotypic adaptation using crop models. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 66, 3451-3462.

- RANDALL, P. & MOSS, H. 1990. Some effects of temperature regime during grain filling on wheat quality. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 41, 603-617.
- RAY, D. K., WEST, P. C., CLARK, M., GERBER, J. S., PRISHCHEPOV, A. V. & CHATTERJEE, S. 2019. Climate change has likely already affected global food production. *PloS ONE*, 14, 1-18.
- ROBERT, N. 2002. Comparison of stability statistics for yield and quality traits in bread wheat. *Euphytica*, 128, 333-341.
- ROUDIER, P., SULTAN, B., QUIRION, P. & BERG, A. 2011. The impact of future climate change on West African crop yields: What does the recent literature say? *Global Environmental Change*, 21, 1073-1083.
- ROZBICKI, J., CEGLIŃSKA, A., GOZDOWSKI, D., JAKUBCZAK, M., CACAK-PIETRZAK, G., MĄDRY, W., GOLBA, J., PIECHOCIŃSKI, M., SOBCZYŃSKI, G., STUDNICKI, M. & DRZAZGA, T. 2015. Influence of the cultivar, environment and management on the grain yield and bread-making quality in winter wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 61, 126-132.
- SABA, M., JULIAN, T., ZED, R., HOSSEIN, K.-S., HAYDN, K., MAMORU, O. & PETER, L. 2016. The Genetic Control of Grain Protein Content under Variable Nitrogen Supply in an Australian Wheat Mapping Population. *PLoS ONE*, 11, 1-13.
- SANCHO, A. I., GILLABERT, M., TAPP, H., SHEWRY, P. R., SKEGGS, P. K. & MILLS, E. N. C. 2008. Effect of environmental stress during grain filling on the soluble proteome of wheat (Triticum aestivum) dough liquor. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56, 5386-5393.
- SAVILL, G. P., MICHALSKI, A., POWERS, S. J., WAN, Y., TOSI, P., BUCHNER, P. & HAWKESFORD, M. J. 2018. Temperature and nitrogen supply interact to determine protein distribution gradients in the wheat grain endosperm. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 69, 3117-3126.
- SCHMID, M., WIESER, H. & KOEHLER, P. 2016. Isolation and Characterization of High-Molecular-Weight (HMW) Gliadins from Wheat Flour. *Cereal Chemistry*, 93, 536-542.
- SCHMID, M., WIESER, H. & KOEHLER, P. 2017. Disulphide structure of high-molecular-weight (HMW-) gliadins as affected by terminators. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 78, 66-74.
- SEMENOV, M. A., STRATONOVITCH, P., ALGHABARI, F. & GOODING, M. J. 2014. Adapting wheat in Europe for climate change. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 59, 245-256.
- SHAH, T., XU, J., ZOU, X., CHENG, Y., NASIR, M. & ZHANG, X. 2018. Omics Approaches for Engineering Wheat Production under Abiotic Stresses. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19, 1-16.
- SHEWRY, P. R. & TATHAM, A. S. 1990. The prolamin storage proteins of cereal seeds: structure and evolution. *The Biochemical Journal*, 267, 1-12.
- SHEWRY, P. R., HALFORD, N. G. & TATHAM, A. S. 1992. High molecular weight subunits of wheat glutenin. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 15, 105-120.

- SHEWRY, P. R., NAPIER, J. A. & TATHAM, A. S. 1995a. Seed Storage Proteins: Structures and Biosynthesis. *The Plant Cell*, 7, 945-956.
- SHEWRY, P. R., TATHAM, A. S., BARRO, F., BARCELO, P. & LAZZERI, P. 1995b. Biotechnology of Breadmaking: Unraveling and Manipulating the Multi-Protein Gluten Complex. *Nature Biotechnology*, 13, 1185-1190.
- SHEWRY, P. R., HALFORD, N. G. & LAFIANDRA, D. 2003. Genetics of Wheat Gluten Proteins. *Advances in Genetics*, 49, 111-184.
- SHEWRY, P. 2019. What Is Gluten-Why Is It Special? Frontiers in Nutrition, 6, 1-10.
- SINGH, D., WANG, X., KUMAR, U., GAO, L., NOOR, M., IMTIAZ, M., SINGH, R. P. & POLAND, J. 2019. High-Throughput Phenotyping Enabled Genetic Dissection of Crop Lodging in Wheat. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 1-11.
- SMHI. 2018. Cooperation is a must for adaptation to and mitigation of climate change. Available: https://www.smhi.se/en/news-archive/cooperation-is-a-must-for-adaptation-to-and-mitigationof-climate-change-1.138813 [2020-10-13]
- SMHI. 2020. Starkast uppvärmning i norra och östra Sverige. Available: https://www.smhi.se/nyhetsarkiv/starkast-uppvarmning-i-norra-och-ostra-sverige-1.159340 [2020-10-13]
- GOEL, S., SINGH, K., SINGH, B., GREWAL, S., DWIVEDI, N., ALQARAW, A. A., ABD, ALLAH E. F., AHMAD, P., & SINGH, N. K. 2019. Analysis of genetic control and QTL mapping of essential wheat grain quality traits in a recombinant inbred population. *PLoS ONE*, 14, 1-15.
- SROAN, B. S., BEAN, S. R. & MACRITCHIE, F. 2009. Mechanism of gas cell stabilization in bread making. I. The primary gluten–starch matrix. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 49, 32-40.
- STONE, P. J. & NICOLAS, M. E. 1994. Wheat Cultivars Vary Widely in Their Responses of Grain Yield and Quality to Short Periods of Post-Anthesis Heat Stress. *Functional Plant Biology*, 21, 887-900.
- SUN, J.-J., GUO, Y., ZHANG, G.-Z., GAO, M.-G., ZHANG, G.-H., KONG, F.-M., ZHAO, Y. & LI, S.-S. 2012. QTL mapping for seedling traits under different nitrogen forms in wheat. *Euphytica*, 191, 317-331.
- SUPIT, I., VAN DIEPEN, C. A., BOOGAARD, H. L., LUDWIG, F. & BARUTH, B. 2010a. Trend analysis of the water requirements, consumption and deficit of field crops in Europe. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 150, 77-88.
- SUPIT, I., VAN DIEPEN, C. A., DE WIT, A. J. W., KABAT, P., BARUTH, B. & LUDWIG, F. 2010b. Recent changes in the climatic yield potential of various crops in Europe. *Agricultural Systems*, 103, 683-694.
- SVEC, I., HRUŠKOVÁ, M., KARAS, J. & HOFMANOVA, T. 2012. Solvent Retention Capacity for Different Wheats and Flours Evaluation. *Czech Journal of Food Sciences*, 30, 429-437.
- TATHAM, A., MIFLIN, B. J. & SHEWRY, P. R. 1985. The beta-turn conformation in wheat gluten proteins: Relationship to gluten elasticity. *Cereal Chemistry*, 62, 405-412.

- TERASAWA, Y., ITO, M., TABIKI, T., NAGASAWA, K., HATTA, K. & NISHIO, Z. 2016. Mapping of a major QTL associated with protein content on chromosome 2B in hard red winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Breeding Science*, 66, 471-480.
- TESTER, R., MORRISON, W., ELLIS, R., PIGGO, J., BATTS, G., WHEELER, T., MORISON, J., HADLEY, P. & LEDWARD, D. 1995. Effects of elevated growth temperature and carbon dioxide levels on some physiochemical properties of wheat starch. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 22, 63-71.
- THEWISSEN, B. G., CELUS, I., BRIJS, K. & DELCOUR, J. A. 2011. Foaming properties of wheat gliadin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59, 1370–1375.
- UHLEN, A. K., DIESETH, J. A., KOGA, S., BÖCKER, U., HOEL, B., ANDERSON, J. A. & MOLDESTAD, A. 2015. Variation in gluten quality parameters of spring wheat varieties of different origin grown in contrasting environments. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 62, 110-116.
- VÁZQUEZ, D., BERGER, A., PRIETO-LINDE, M. & JOHANSSON, E. 2018. Can nitrogen fertilization be used to modulate yield, protein content and bread-making quality in Uruguayan wheat? *Journal of Cereal Science*, 85, 153-161.
- VERAVERBEKE, W. S. & DELCOUR, J. A. 2002. Wheat Protein Composition and Properties of Wheat Glutenin in Relation to Breadmaking Functionality. *Critical Reviews in Food Science* and Nutrition, 42, 179-208.
- WALKER, C., GARLAND-CAMPBELL, K., CARTER, B. & KIDWELL, K. 2008. Using the Solvent Retention Capacity Test When Breeding Wheat for Diverse Production Environments. *Crop Science*, 48, 495-506.
- WAN, Y., GRITSCH, C., HAWKESFORD, M. & SHEWRY, P. 2014. Effects of nitrogen nutrition on the synthesis and deposition of the -gliadins of wheat. *Annals of botany*, 113, 607-615.
- WANG, C. & KOVACS, M. 2002. Swelling Index of Glutenin Test. I. Method and Comparison with Sedimentation, Gel-Protein, and Insoluble Glutenin Tests. *Cereal Chemistry*, 79, 183–189.
- WANG, A., GAO, L., LI, X., ZHANG, Y., HE, Z., XIA, X., ZHANG, Y. & YAN, Y. 2008. Characterization of two 1D-encoded ω-gliadin subunits closely related to dough strength and pan bread-making quality in common wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Journal of Cereal Science*, 47, 528-535.
- WANG, L., TIAN, Y., YAO, X., ZHU, Y. & CAO, W. 2014. Predicting grain yield and protein content in wheat by fusing multi-sensor and multi-temporal remote-sensing images. *Field Crops Research*, 164, 178-188.
- WANG, Y., ZHEN, S., LUO, N., HAN, C., LU, X., LI, X., XIA, X., HE, Z. & YAN, Y. 2016. Low molecular weight glutenin subunit gene Glu-B3h confers superior dough strength and breadmaking quality in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Scientific Reports*, 6, 1-12.
- WIESER, H. & KIEFFER, R. 2001. Correlations of the Amount of Gluten Protein Types to the Technological Properties of Wheat Flours Determined on a Micro-scale. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 34, 19-27.
- WIESER, H. 2007. Chemistry of gluten proteins. Food microbiology, 24, 115-119.

- WIESER, H., MANDERSCHEID, R., ERBS, M. & WEIGEL, H.-J. 2008. Effects of Elevated Atmospheric CO2 Concentrations on the Quantitative Protein Composition of Wheat Grain. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56, 6531-6535.
- WILLIAMS, M., SHEWRY, P. R. & HARWOOD, J. L. 1993. Influence of alterations in environmental CO₂ and temperature on wheat grain lipids. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 21, 182.
- WOYCHIK, J. H., BOUNDY, J. A. & DIMLER, R. J. 1961. Starch gel electrophoresis of wheat gluten proteins with concentrated urea. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 94, 477-482.
- WURSCHUM, T., LEISER, W. L., KAZMAN, E. & LONGIN, C. F. H. 2016. Genetic control of protein content and sedimentation volume in European winter wheat cultivars. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 129, 1685-1696.
- XIAO, Z. S., PARK, S. H., CHUNG, O. K., CALEY, M. S. & SEIB, P. A. 2006. Solvent Retention Capacity Values in Relation to Hard Winter Wheat and Flour Properties and Straight-Dough Breadmaking Quality. *Cereal Chemistry*, 83, 465-471.
- XUE, C., AUF'M ERLEY, G. S., ROSSMANN, A., SCHUSTER, R., KOEHLER, P. & MÜHLING,
 K.-H. 2016. Split Nitrogen Application Improves Wheat Baking Quality by Influencing
 Protein Composition Rather Than Concentration. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7, 1-11.
- XUE, C., MATROS, A., MOCK, H.-P. & MÜHLING, K.-H. 2019. Protein Composition and Baking Quality of Wheat Flour as Affected by Split Nitrogen Application. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 1-11.
- YANG, F., JØRGENSEN, A. D., LI, H., SØNDERGAARD, I., FINNIE, C., SVENSSON, B., JIANG, D., WOLLENWEBER, B. & JACOBSEN, S. 2011. Implications of high-temperature events and water deficits on protein profiles in wheat (Triticum aestivum L. cv. Vinjett) grain. *Proteomics*, 11, 1684-1695.
- YASMEEN, F., RAJA, N. I., RAZZAQ, A. & KOMATSU, S. 2016. Gel-free/label-free proteomic analysis of wheat shoot in stress tolerant varieties under iron nanoparticles exposure. *BBA Proteins and Proteomics*, 1864, 1586-1598.
- ZAMAN-ALLAH, M., VERGARA, O., ARAUS, J. L., TAREKEGNE, A., MAGOROKOSHO, C., ZARCO-TEJADA, P. J., HORNERO, A., ALBÀ, A. H., DAS, B., CRAUFURD, P., OLSEN, M., PRASANNA, B. M. & CAIRNS, J. 2015. Unmanned aerial platform-based multi-spectral imaging for field phenotyping of maize. *Plant Methods*, 11, 1-10.
- ZHANG, Q., ZHANG, Y., ZHANG, Y., HE, Z. & PEÑA, R. J. 2007. Effects of Solvent Retention Capacities, Pentosan Content, and Dough Rheological Properties on Sugar Snap Cookie Quality in Chinese Soft Wheat Genotypes. *Crop Science*, 47, 656-662.
- ZHAO, D., WANG, L. & LEI, Y. 2012. Correlation among SDS Sedimentation Value, Swelling Index of Glutenin and Solvent Retention Capacity of Spring Wheat. *Notulae Scientia Biologicae*, 4, 132-135.
- ZHENG, B. S., LE GOUIS, J., LEFLON, M., RONG, W. Y., LAPERCHE, A. & BRANCOURT-HULMEL, M. 2010. Using probe genotypes to dissect QTL × environment interactions for grain yield components in winter wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 121, 1501-1517.

- ZHONG, Y., XU, D., HEBELSTRUP, K. H., YANG, D., CAI, J., WANG, X., ZHOU, Q., CAO, W., DAI, T. & JIANG, D. 2018. Nitrogen topdressing timing modifies free amino acids profiles and storage protein gene expression in wheat grain. *BMC Plant Biology*, 18, 1-14.
- ÖRNEBRO, J., WAHLGREN, M., ELIASSON, A. C., FIDO, R. J. & TATHAM, A. S. 1999. Adsorption of α-, β-, γ- and ω -Gliadins onto Hydrophobic Surfaces. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 30, 105-114.